Walden University

COLLEGE OF EDUCATION

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Wendy Bibeau

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Freda Williams, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Sydney Parent, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Ann Jablonski, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer

Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2014



UMI Number: 3632402

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3632402

Published by ProQuest LLC (2014). Copyright in the Dissertation held by the Author.

Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code



ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346



Abstract

Educators' Perspectives on Female Students' Enrollment in Computer Science and

Engineering

by

Wendy Bibeau

MS, Southern New Hampshire University, 1995

BS, University of Massachusetts, Lowell, 1991

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

July 2014



Abstract

The purpose of this case study was to inquire into educators' perspectives on female students' enrollment in computer science and engineering (CSE) courses. At a high school in New England, girls are significantly underrepresented in CSE courses, a problem that is reflected in schools throughout the United States. As a result, these careers are lacking in input from women, even as the number of CSE professions is increasing. Research questions in this study addressed what teachers, administrators, and guidance counselors think about this growing problem and what changes, if any, they are willing to make to help close this gender gap. Individual interviews and a focus group were used to gather data from 7 participants. The theoretical framework was based on brain research and social theories. Data were then analyzed and coded for themes based on the framework. The results indicated that educators are cognizant of the underrepresentation within their school and have tried individually, but unsuccessfully, to make changes to increase the numbers of girls in CSE courses. In response to these findings, a professional development project was developed that outlines ways for educators to communicate and collaborate to increase girls' representation in CSE courses. Girls, schools, and industry can benefit from the results of this study. If educators can encourage more girls to take CSE courses and provide support for them to be confident and successful, then more girls will go on to major in CSE, which will then lead to an increase in the number of women working in these fields.



Educators' Perspectives on Female Students' Enrollment in Computer Science and

Engineering

by

Wendy Bibeau

MS, Southern New Hampshire University, 1995

BS, University of Massachusetts, Lowell, 1991

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

July 2014



www.manaraa.com

Table of Contents

Section 1: The Problem
Definition of the Problem1
Rationale5
Evidence of the Problem at the Local Level
Evidence of the Problem From the Professional Literature7
Definitions
Significance
Guiding Questions
Review of Literature
History of Women and Programming12
Gender Characteristics
Single Gender Classes 16
Pair Programming18
Role Models
Recommendations for Change
Responsibility of Educators
Implications
Summary



Section 2: The Methodology	7
Research Design and Approach	7
Description of Research Design27	7
Justification of Research Design)
Participants 29)
Justification for the Number of Participants)
Procedures for Gaining Access to Participants)
Methods of Establishing a Researcher-Participant Working Relationship	1
Measures for Ethical Protection of Participants	1
Data Collection	2
Role of Researcher	1
Data Analysis	5
How and When Data Were Analyzed	5
Accuracy and Credibility	5
Discrepant Cases	5
Qualitative Results	5
Process	5
Data Analyses	5



Themes
Evidence of Quality
Outcomes
Section 3: The Project
Introduction
Description and Goals56
Rationale
Review of Literature
Professional Development
Collaboration
Custom Goals for Each Educator
Description
Needed Resources
Existing Supports
Potential Barriers
Implementation
Roles and Responsibilities
Project Evaluation



Justification7	1
Outcomes and Performance Measures7	1
Evaluation Goals7	2
Key Stakeholders	2
Implications Including Social Change7	3
Local Community7	3
Far-Reaching7	3
Conclusion74	4
Section 4: Reflections/Conclusion7	5
Project	5
Strengths	5
Limitations7	5
Recommendations	6
Analysis of Process	7
Scholarship	7
Project Development and Evaluation	7
Leadership and Change7	8
Learned About Self	9



Scholar		
Practitioner		
Project Developer		
Reflection		
Future Research		
References		
Appendix A: Project		
Appendix B: Invitation Letter		
Appendix C: Informed Consent Form 109		
Appendix D: Interview Protocol Form		
Appendix E: Focus Group Protocol Form 113		
Appendix F: Permissions 114		
List of Tables		

Table 1: Each Participant Initial Data	Collected3	8
--	------------	---



Section 1: The Problem

This project study focused on the lack of girls in computer science and engineering (CSE) courses as well as the lack of effort within schools to increase the number of girls in these courses. The intent of this study was to determine what educators' perspectives are on female students' enrollment in CSE courses, if they are willing to advocate for change, and if they know or have tried techniques that may encourage more girls to participate in these courses.

Definition of the Problem

At a regional high school of about 1,500 students in a suburb in New England, girls are significantly underrepresented in CSE courses. Computer courses that are offered through the business department, such as computer applications, desktop publishing, and web design, have about an equal number of boys and girls enrolled in them. The same is not true for Visual Basic, C++, Java, Flash, AutoCAD, and gaming courses, which are more math-based courses that deal with problem solving and writing code. Only 24 girls (16%) at the high school are currently enrolled in Visual Basic, C++, Java, Flash, AutoCad, and gaming compared to 126 boys.

Not all computer courses are considered computer science. At the high school in this study, the math department offers all programming courses while the business/technology department offers the rest of the computer courses. In addition,



engineering courses are offered through the engineering division of the business/technology department but are considered a separate entity.

One goal of the district is "to prepare our students to the best of our ability to succeed in the workplace, or in higher education, by providing them advanced technology skills." This goal needs improvement in the area of CSE courses at the high school because overall enrollment is low, and most students in these courses represent only one gender. Educators in the school, including teachers, guidance counselors, and administrators, have an obligation to all students to provide encouragement and support. Lack of knowledge and effort on the part of the educators has perpetuated the underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses. The purpose of this study was to explore how educators feel about the inequity in the number of girls and boys in CSE courses, why they think it exists, and what they think they can do to increase the number of girls enrolled in these courses. Understanding why educators have not done more to encourage girls in CSE is the first step to changing this trend.

As information technology jobs increase, the number of women in these fields decreases. From 1983 to 2008 the percentage of women in the information technology workforce went from 43% to 26%, according to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics Current Population Survey (as cited in Coder, Rosenbloom, Ash, & Dupont, 2009). As more men continue to work in and influence this profession, the technology they create is not as heterogeneous as it could be. Technology benefits from diversity because differences and varied experiences promote creativity (Papastergiou, 2008). Ideas and



2

views from a diverse workforce create an end product that may interest many consumers, as well as potential employees.

Schools need to make more of an effort to change the stereotype that CSE courses and professions are for boys. More needs to be done to expose and encourage more girls to participate. Girls may gain the self-confidence needed to enter into CSE courses and careers if these interventions are done early enough. First, educators need to recognize and identify that the underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses is a problem, and then there needs to be an effort to make a change. There are proven methods to initiate this change. Different methods may work for different schools and each school will need to experiment to see what brings about the desired result. The sought after outcome may also be different for each school, but any increases in the number of girls in CSE courses is a start in the right direction. The numbers may start small and rise over time, but change must be initiated by educators within the school.

This problem is a concern for other schools as well, including schools throughout New England. The state of New Hampshire (New Hampshire Department of Education [NHDOE], 2006) has identified women as the minority in engineering occupations and referred to women in engineering as a "special population." In response, the NHDOE has created the Pre-Engineering Program, which encourages "more female students into this high-skill, high wage profession" (NHDOE, 2006, p. 10). One of the goals of this program is to change the view of engineering "as an opportunity for students of both genders" (NHDOE, 2006, p. 10). Massachusetts (Massachusetts Department of Education, 2004) considers programs such as science, engineering, and technology as



nontraditional programs for females. Connecticut (Report to the Governor, 2013) found that high school girls are less likely than boys to be interested in science, technology, engineering, and math (STEM) courses. The women who do end up in STEM careers are paid significantly less and have poor retention even though businesses express the desire and value for women in their companies. At the first National Summit on the Advancement of Girls in Math and Science in 2006, U.S. Secretary of Education Margaret Spellings stated "our country cannot afford to lose half of our potential innovators" (p. 1). Spellings also stated that girls make up only 15% of advanced placement computer science courses and less than 20% of college engineering majors, and the number of women with college computer science degrees decreased 25% from 1985 to 2006.

Unfortunately, this problem extends beyond the United States. Australia has between 10% and 30% of girls taking information technology courses, and less than 20% are found in these types of careers while Africa has the lowest rates in the world of girls enrolled in science and technology courses (Miliszewska & Sztendur, 2010). This global problem does not have a quick fix. Schools need to make more of an effort to understand the problem so they can begin to create an atmosphere that encourages equity. Changes may start small within individual districts and spread to other districts, states, and countries to encourage all girls to learn more about CSE courses and careers.



Rationale

Evidence of the Problem at the Local Level

During the 2010-2011 school year, 152 students enrolled in CSE courses at the high school in this study. Only 24 or 16% of these students are girls. Educators within the school have noticed a difference, but there has not been discussion about what to do to change these numbers. Typically, girls who take a CSE course continue taking more from both the computer science and the engineering departments. It is assumed that only the students who are interested in CSE courses are taking them because all courses in these departments are electives and students must sign up for them,. The school has not done anything to increase awareness, build interest, or focus on increasing the number of girls in these courses. Knowing how the educators in the high school feel about the underrepresentation of girls, why they think this inequity exists, and what they feel they can do to encourage more girls to be involved in CSE courses may help in understanding why more has not already been done.

A middle school from a neighboring district has shown interest in trying single gender classes in language arts and math. The idea is that single gender classes may help girls do better in math and boys do better in language arts. This strategy could translate into increased enrollment in CSE courses if girls are more confident in math and problem solving. This school has been attempting to start these single gender classes for 3 years. They want to offer them as optional classes for students whose parents are interested. Parent support is needed because students in the middle school are not allowed to choose their classes. The school would need a class of about 15 to 20 girls and 15 to 20 boys.



Every year, several times a year, the math teacher holds information nights to inform parents. Usually only two or three parents show up. Although the teacher has data to support why he believes this type of class will improve the district's scores on standardized tests, there is a lack of interest among students and parents. If more parents backed this initiative, then the school could try one class of boys and one class of girls to see how it would impact confidence and success in these classes. Greater self-confidence from girls in middle school math is expected to promote greater achievement, which can then create more interest in CSE courses as they enter high school and college. This middle school does not offer CSE courses, so their primary focus is on math scores. However, if they were successful, a secondary impact could be seen in high school math and CSE courses. This school is an example of educators trying to make a difference, but only trying one method that is not working for them.

Locally there have been efforts made to increase interest and expand participation in CSE courses; however, these efforts are not specifically targeting girls. A technical high school in the area accepts students from various districts and offers programs such as pre engineering and computer programming. Once a month they have a night of technology during which middle school students from participating districts can learn about computer programming to build interest in the CSE program. In a session of about 40 students, on average only one or two girls attend each month. These indirect efforts by area schools have not resulted in an increase of girls in CSE courses. As the community, including students, parents, and educators, gain more of an understanding about what CSE involve, they may begin to see a change in the number of girls



participating. There are ways schools can start this trend, but it will require education and a clear comprehension of the goal.

Evidence of the Problem From the Professional Literature

The percentage of high school girls interested in studying computer science in college dropped from 37% to 20% from 1991 to 2001 (Agosto, 2007). This trend transfers to the related workforce as well, leaving the country with a shortage of qualified professionals and less diverse ideas (Papastergiou, 2008). If more girls can be encouraged to take CSE courses, then more women can fill these positions and bring new insights to the field. While women receive more than half of all bachelor degrees and make up virtually half of all workers, only 25% major in computer science, 21% major in engineering, and 26% are employed in science and engineering fields (Halpern, Aronson, Reimer, Simpkins, & Wentzel, 2007). Although women show higher levels of selfmotivation, persistence, and responsibility (Lau & Yuen, 2010), women in leadership positions in the technology profession are outnumbered six to one by men (McKinney, Wilson, Brooks, O'Leary-Kelly, & Hardgrave, 2008). This vast difference is the result of the underrepresentation of women throughout the entire process. This process begins in school just by being exposed to what CSE courses are. The progression then continues with girls having more interest and confidence with these courses, which leads to choosing CSE as a college major. The advancement concludes with women in the CSE fields, who then can be promoted to leadership positions. Without the initial increase of female students at the school level, none of the other accomplishments can happen.



There is an increasing demand for computer related occupations yet women make up less and less of this population of workers. The U.S. Department of Labor predicted engineering and technology jobs are growing at four times the national average (as cited in Shanahan, 2006). Increasing the numbers of students taking these courses is needed to fill these emerging jobs. To make this workforce more diverse and equal, increasing the number of girls in this field is needed as well. The goal of education is to get its students ready to become contributing members of society and to give all students equal opportunities. Schools must take on the responsibility of preparing girls to enter CSE careers. Education has let gender stereotypes and misconceptions hinder enrollment numbers for girls in CSE courses. Change must begin in all educational facilities to alter these preconceived notions and misunderstandings. According to Varma and Hahn (2008), there are three things that can "improve representation of women in computing field" (p. 10). They are continued exposure because "their interest in science does not seem intrinsic and instead it evolves over a time period" (p. 10), guiding students based on their specific situations, and letting female students know the value of CSE in their future. Educators need to understand the importance of this responsibility and what they each can do to influence this transformation.

Definitions

AutoCAD: Architectural design software (Woodford, 2002) used in engineering. *C++:* A programming language (Beneker, 2003).

Computer science and engineering (CSE) courses: Programming and engineering courses that are math based and problem-solving oriented. According to job descriptions



at the National Institutes of Health (2011), both CSE positions include problem solving and knowledge of mathematical techniques.

Flash: Animation software (Featherly, 2002).

Java: A scripting language developed to process information (Beneker, 2003).

STEM: An acronym for science, technology, engineering, and math (Buzzanell & Lucas, 2006). STEM education integrates these four disciplines and "the processes of inquiry, design, and analysis" (Bybee, 2010, p. 31).

Visual Basic: A high-level, object-oriented programming language (Beneker, 2003).

Significance

This problem is significant to education because CSE courses and careers have been "inhospitable to the representation, advancement, and inclusion of women" (Bilimoria, Joy, & Liang, 2008, p. 424). Bias from inside and outside of schools has contributed to girls not having equality in the classroom, especially when it comes to math, science, and technology. Education should provide a place where students can explore and develop their interests and talents because it may lead to job opportunities and making a living.

Although the demand for qualified and skilled CSE employees increases, there continues to be a shortage of women in these fields (Buzzetto-More, Ukoha, & Rustagi, 2010). Companies are making decisions to offshore work due to several reasons including the lack of qualified personnel. Offshore work increased from 42% in 2004 to 68% in 2006 with information technology and product development, which includes



engineering, accounting for the top two functions being offshored (Manning, Massini, & Lewin, 2008). There is a need for more creative and talented people in these careers. Women in the United States can be included in the pool of potential employees to help keep some of these jobs from going offshore. The country is missing out on the talent of an unknown number of women due to gender gaps in this profession. "This is a grim situation for both the women whose potential remains unutilized and the U.S. society which is dependent on IT" (Varma, 2010, p. 301). Creating an educational environment that provides a gender balance will allow more girls to experience CSE so that they can have a chance to see if this is a career choice for them. Not only does the industry need more women in these careers, we also need them in education. These careers include women CSE teachers, which make good role models for girls and can help with encouragement and self-confidence.

Throndsen and Turmo (2012) stated that educators are important influences in a student's learning and that factors such as how a teacher instructs, the teacher/student relationship, whether the teacher is male or female, and even the teacher's beliefs on gender issues may affect student attitudes and learning. There are many studies that center on instruction, relationships, gender differences, and ways to increase girls' interest in CSE courses, but there is a lack of studies focusing on how educators feel about these issues.



Guiding Questions

What are educators' perspectives on female students' enrollment in CSE courses? What are educators' views about making changes to encourage girls to be more involved with programming and engineering courses?

These questions guide the study to find out if educators within the school understand that there is a problem and that there are specific things that can be done to make improvements. The people who can make changes need to recognize the problem and know what to do before any changes can be made. Teachers can make changes in their classrooms to spark interest in CSE courses. Administrators can make changes to curriculum or policies to make school-wide decisions. Guidance counselors can speak to students to find their interests and encourage CSE courses. With all of these influential people within the school, there are adjustments that can be implemented to determine what makes a difference with girls within this school. Understanding what educators think about female enrollment in these courses will show why changes have not already begun and could encourage change to take place.

Review of Literature

The literature review was primarily conducted using resources from Walden University's online library. Education and CSE research databases were searched for relevant data that provided background information for this study. These references were also chosen predominately within a 5-year time frame. Various searches within ERIC and Computer and Applied Sciences Complete, as well as other databases, were used.



Examples of keywords examined were *STEM*, *computer science and engineering*, *girls and computers, pair programming, single gender courses*, and *CSE*.

History of Women and Programming

Ironically, the first computer programmer was a woman, Ada Lovelace (McCormack, 1998), and the pioneer of software development that inspired programming languages was also a woman, Grace Hopper (Graham, 2011). Without the contributions of these women, the history of computers would be different. Klawe, Whitney, and Simard (2009) stated that in 1985 women received 37% of computer science undergraduate degrees, a percentage that dropped to 22% by 2005. They also indicated that jobs held by women in math and computer science decreased from 33% in 1984 to 27% in 2004. The number of women in these careers does not incrementally go up with the increasing number of jobs in this area. In 2008-2009 women earned 57% of all bachelor's degrees, but only 18% earned these degrees in computer science fields and only 16% in engineering (Aud et al., 2011). The numbers of women in this profession continue to fall even though the demand for computer scientists and computer engineers is expected to rise 37% by 2016 (Meelissen & Drent, 2008). The underrepresentation of women in CSE courses has increasingly been the topic of studies since the early 1990s (Varma, 2010). Klawe et al. (2009) blamed bias and stereotypes as the reasons for these declines. Included in their list of ways to dispel these myths are to provide accurate information, show the social impact CSE jobs can have, and give girls appropriate exposure to technology, including using pair programming. Lastly, the authors stated that positive change relies on the community as a whole allowing computing fields to be



supportive and inclusive. Changing the mindset of students, educators, and professionals of both genders is important to opening the door so that everyone feels welcome and that they can be successful in CSE positions. The following section presents a discussion about how educators affect students' attitudes and what educators can do to change the attitudes about girls' lack of participation in CSE courses.

Gender Characteristics

Both brain research and social theories give insight into why this gender discrepancy exists in CSE courses. Brain research shows that girls and boys think and learn differently. While men and women have similar levels of intelligence, women have stronger verbal ability and emotional intelligence whereas men have stronger visuospatial ability (Jausovec & Jausovec, 2008). Social theories (Else-Quest, Hyde, & Linn, 2010) suggest that gender behaviors are formed from sociocultural factors, which affect selfefficacy. Girls are thought not to be as interested in CSE courses because they are more social than boys and feel as though these courses are socially isolating (Reis & Graham, 2005). This behavior also affects their computer usage. Tsai and Tsai (2010) stated that girls use computers more for socializing and want to know how computers can affect their lives while boys use them more for gaming. These authors also explained that although both girls and boys use the computer to surf the Web, boys explore more whereas girls use it more for communication. Girls respond more to the human element of computer usage while for boys it is more about entertainment.

Girls tend to do better on reading tests while boys tend to do better on math and science tests. Although girls are more likely to go to college, they are underrepresented



in technical fields such as CSE (Dee, 2006). Unfortunately, the United States is not the only country with this gender gap in computer science degrees (Anderson, Lankshear, Timms, & Courtney, 2008) or engineering degrees (Dlodlo & Beyers, 2009). There are many organizations around the world that have programs to promote girls in this area, including the Ada Lovelace Project (Cozza, 2011), which motivates, mentors, and trains girls in science, mathematics, engineering, and technology. They introduce, encourage, and support girls, so there is more interest in technology-related courses and careers. These programs also try to break the stereotype that these are courses and careers for boys.

The President's Council of Advisors on Science and Technology (2010) stated that the United States is behind other nations in STEM education. There is a serious interest and achievement gap among women in these fields. "This gap limits their participation in many well-paid, high-growth professions and deprives the Nation of the full benefit of their talents and perspectives" (p. vi). This executive report sums up the importance of the issue:

The success of the United States in the 21st century—its wealth and welfare—will depend on the ideas and skills of its population . . . STEM education will determine whether the United States will remain a leader among nations . . . It will help produce the capable and flexible workforce needed to compete in a global marketplace. It will ensure our society continues to make fundamental discoveries . . . It will generate the scientists, technologists, engineers, and mathematicians who will create the new ideas, new products, and entirely new



industries of the 21st century. It will provide the technical skills and quantitative literacy needed for individuals to earn livable wages and make better decisions for themselves, their families, and their communities. And it will strengthen our democracy by preparing all citizens to make informed choices in an increasingly technological world. (p. v)

This report to the President specifically states that the problem lies in the lack of interest in this area, and the nation must work on preparing and inspiring all students to learn STEM subjects. Recommendations include developing standards, training and recognizing teachers, improving educational technology, creating opportunities for students, and creating STEM-focused schools.

McKinney et al. (2008) discovered that most of the reasons for entering this field of work are the same for men and women. The one exception was that significantly more men chose this career for the love of computers and technology. Women did not feel as strongly about computers and technology. Experience and attitudes also were similar for both genders, but women answered that they were not as comfortable or confident with technical language and skills. Women do not have a lack of ability; they just do not have the same self-confidence as men in this area.

Girls' perception of CSE courses are that they are boring (Anderson et al., 2008), even though online communication is dominated by women. Collaboration and networking are strengths of women. Women want to know how technology can affect their lives (Crocco, Cramer, & Meier, 2008). Girls are more social and think courses and jobs in CSE are socially isolating (Werner & Denner, 2009). Girls find greater peer



relationships with others through communication such as social networking and blogs. Boys have greater peer relationships by sharing experiences such as games with them. Computers are often thought of as socially isolating, but online use for both boys and girls is a valuable tool for relationships (Desjarlais & Willoughby, 2010). Suggestions based on a study conducted by Kulturel-Konak, D'Allegro, and Dickinson (2011) were to use real-life examples or create internships and create an environment that is collaborative. When using computers for personal use, boys and girls utilize them differently.

Lau and Yuen (2010) from the University of Hong Kong found that gender differences affect learning styles. Girls are more concrete sequential and abstract random learners. Concrete sequential learners use their "physical senses" and "think in an orderly, logical, and sequential manner" (p. 1094). Abstract random learners "have a strong sense . . . of feeling and emotion" and "think in a non-linear and emotional manner" (p. 1094). Boys are more concrete random learners, which tend to "like to experiment with ideas and concepts and think intuitively, instinctively, impulsively, and independently" (p. 1094). Girls are also influenced more than boys by parent and teacher motivation. Teachers can vary the way they present material and individualize instruction to appeal to more students. Gender sensitive and female friendly computer science classrooms have environments that engage more girls.

Single Gender Classes

One way educators can help girls be more successful in CSE courses is through single gender classes. Academic performance has seen an increase while discipline



problems have seen a decrease in single gender classrooms. The goal in education is to meet the needs of every child (Rex & Chadwell, 2009). Each class can be designed to meet the interests and strengths of each gender. Not only do girls perform better in single gender classrooms but they also have a better attitude toward technology (Miliszewska & Sztendur, 2010). According to McKellar, (2007) girls need to relate math and problem solving to things that are relevant to them to understand it better. Single gender courses allow for this personalization to happen.

Miliszewska and Sztendur (2010) conducted a study in Australia and found that at coeducational schools most girls between the seventh and twelfth grades use computers to do such things like word processing (80%) and surf the Web (56%). Significantly fewer girls use computers for more advanced computer skills such as programming (15%). However, at all-girl schools the number of girls using basic computer skills drops while the number using more advanced features rise. Seventy-four percent use word processing, 48% surf the Web, and 22% program. These percentages are slight differences but do show that single gender classes are a viable option to help close the gap.

Girls in single gender classes have been reported to feel that they have more "teacher support, computer-related confidence, and academic intentions" (Varma, 2010, p. 303) in CSE courses than coeducational classes. "Due to insufficient training and unequal emphasis to male and female students" (p. 302) teachers may unintentionally affect attitudes.



Pair Programming

Another way educators can help girls in CSE courses and change the typical perception of the CSE field is by using pair programming in the classroom. Pair programming is another way to structure CSE courses so girls will find more interest in them and be more successful. The idea is to work with a partner, so there is more interaction and collaboration. Girls tend to respond better working with a partner and are more willing to enroll in courses that involve pair programming (Werner & Denner, 2009). Middle school girls were found to work together to problem solve and debug programs (Denner & Werner, 2007). This type of cooperative problem solving helps them to work through more complex predicaments in a way that makes them feel more comfortable. Girls are considered more social than boys and need to talk things through. They can discuss and collaborate on ways to solve problems rather than just individually work on tasks (Rex & Chadwell, 2009). It allows the pair of students to take turns learning by doing and learning by teaching (Han, Lee, & Lee, 2010). Pair programming is one strategy teachers could use in their classrooms to make CSE courses more appealing to girls.

One misconception girls have is that programming and engineering are socially isolating when, in fact, the opposite is true in industry. Collaboration is important for computer programmers and engineers to work together, understand each other's work, and create work that each other can easily understand. The United States and other countries have created competencies in engineering education that include the "ability to work in multidisciplinary teams" and "communication skills" (Goel & Kathuria, 2010, p.



184). Pair programming helps these types of educational courses to meet the needs of these competencies as well as help all students in their design and problem solving skills.Teachers who use pair programming are helping to change the CSE stereotype.

Role Models

Role models within the school, particularly from women, are an important way educators may help encourage girls to take more CSE courses. According to Vekiri (2010) boys' interests and the importance of CSE courses relied more on their parents' support while teacher expectation are important to girls. Student centered teaching was important to boys' interest and importance. For girls, student centered teaching improves their interest in CSE but it does not affect their perception of the importance of these courses. Changing how girls view the usefulness and importance of these courses is needed to change stereotypes and misconceptions about these courses and careers. Instructional intervention is needed to make this change.

Thirty-one percent of full time science, technology, engineering, and math (STEM) faculty consist of women and only 27% of women make up administrative STEM positions such as deans and department heads (Gorman, Durmowicz, Roskes, & Slattery, 2010). When separating out just engineering faculty, women represent only 9.5% (O'Shea, Heilbronner, & Reis, 2010). There is no reason that this percentage should not be equivalent with the number of men in these same positions. Stevenson University in Maryland, on the other hand, boasts that 71% of their STEM faculty and 100% of their STEM leadership positions are women. They have also increased their STEM enrollment to 29% of majors, which makes it the biggest division in the school.



Credit is given to their all women mentoring program. There is mentoring for leadership positions, faculty and students. Feminine role-models, as well as their leadership style of open communication, are believed to "encourage, enable, and empower more women to engage and be successful in STEM disciplines" (p. 11). If a woman teacher is a confident computer user, she will have more of a positive influence on girls' attitudes towards computers (Meelissen & Drent, 2008).

The role model theory states that having a female teacher teach these courses helps girls to think more positively about these courses (Meelissen & Drent, 2008). Unfortunately, teachers are not immune to this gender gap. Without many role models, change must start somewhere and work its way through the cycle of students, teachers, and workers in the profession. Educators, especially women educators, must recognize their potential as role models for girls. This role is particularly important for educators involved in CSE courses where change and role models are needed.

Recommendations for Change

There are several actions that schools can take to encourage increased female enrollment in CSE courses, starting with exposure. One way to introduce all students to CSE is to have short, gender neutral activities in other courses like English, math, or science. Gender neutral examples can simply be relating what is being taught to activities that both girls and boys may identify with and not continuously use topics such as sports or fashion that would favor one group. Exposing all students to this neutrality may encourage more boys and girls to pursue these types of courses and careers (Carbonaro, Szafron, Cutumisu, & Schaeffer, 2010). This example is one way to change



people's perception of what the courses are about. Without any experience or knowledge of this area of study, students may have the wrong ideas about how difficult or boring it is.

The Institute of Educational Sciences (IES) gives the following five recommendations as advice for teachers to address this issue and begin to close this gap: teach students that academic abilities are expandable and improvable; provide prescriptive, informational feedback; expose girls and young women to female role models who have succeeded in math and science; create a classroom environment that sparks initial curiosity and fosters long-term interest in math and science; and provide spatial skills training (as cited in Halpern et al., 2007, p. 9).

Similarly, Papastergiou (2008) conducted a study in Greece and found a few of the same answers to be effective. The proposed actions from this study are ways the educational system may help change girls' perceptions and increase their interest and self-confidence in this area. Exposure at the high school level to understand better what CSE is about would help demystify these courses and career choices. Changing curriculum and materials to include activities that emphasize the social aspects of computing would allow girls to see that it is not socially isolating and does have a human element to it. Highlighting women in the field through guest speakers, mentors, and outreach programs would help break the stereotype that these courses and careers are only for men. The important piece to all of these suggestions is that they are all done within the school. Teachers, administrators, and guidance counselors would be responsible for making these changes and modify the direction of this trend.



A high school in Virginia has a model technology program and has increased enrollment, including women, in their engineering program. One girl interviewed stated that she was hesitant to take these courses because she is a girl but once she experienced it, she felt like it was a perfect fit for her (Alukonis & Settar, 2008). Having a hands-on learning style, teachers who facilitate a student-centered learning environment and stateof-the-art technology and equipment all contribute to students' interest in these courses. These pieces work together to encourage all students to learn and continue in this area of study.

Parents, teachers, and administrators must find ways to encourage girls to take CSE courses. In order for the United States to be a leader in technology, we need to have as many students as possible interested in these areas (Milo, 2010). Teaching educators how to promote and foster excitement in CSE and then support girls along the way will not only increase enrollments and career choices but also help in many other immeasurable ways.

According to Cheryan and Plaut, (2010) people join groups that they feel most similar to. They also stated that perceived similarity translates to interest and "women felt less similar to computer science majors than men, and this lack of perceived similarity accounted for why they were less interested in pursuing the field" (p. 480). Without a sense of belonging, they feel that they cannot relate to the people in that group. Suggestions coming from this research are to change how girls see themselves. If they perceive themselves as technically inclined then they would identify themselves with CSE courses/fields and will show more interest.



Educators are not immune to gender bias and perceptions. According to Varma (2010) before students reach high school, the perception is that math, science, and computer-related courses/fields are for boys. When a teacher's perception is lower in girls, the girls show more anxiety and less confidence. With teacher training and female role models, it is believed that these perceptions can change. The findings from Varma's study mentioned reasons such as lack of role models, limited or no exposure to these courses in school, and the perception of restricted social relations in these fields. Participants specifically point to schools not encouraging girls as a reason there are so few girls in CSE courses/fields. Suggestions coming from this study are that teachers need to improve their teaching style to change their own and their students' mindset. Teachers need to view, expose, and motivate all students equally.

Buzzetto-More, Ukoha, and Rustagi (2010) found that participants suggested "greater academic support would increase the enrollment, success, and retention of underrepresented students" (p. 115) in CSE courses. Again schools were blamed for not exposing students to CSE courses, not providing career counseling, lack of role models, and having low expectations that diminish confidence and success.

Responsibility of Educators

All of the previous data point to changes being made within the school. Changes by educators are the first steps in increasing the amount of girls interested in initially taking CSE courses and eventually working in the field. There are several ways to make this change that will begin the transformation. Characteristics, such as gender stereotypes and bias, affect self-confidence, which in turn decreases success and interest. Educators'



conscious efforts toward gender equality may expand initial participation and continue with increased attraction. Female role models help girls relate to and perhaps perceive themselves as computer programmers and engineers. Required exposure for all students may grow awareness and dispel misconceptions about what CSE is. Gender neutral activities, single gender classes, and pair programming are all ways to change girls' perception of what they believe CSE courses/fields to be and how they fit into them. Different methods may work better for some schools than others but schools need first to be aware that there is a problem and then be aware what strategies should be implemented.

Implications

By understanding educators' perspectives on the shortage of girls in computer science, administrators and guidance counselors may see the lack of interest from the female population, but not realize that there are possible solutions to this problem. STEM teachers can structure or promote their courses in such a way that may prompt more girls to enroll in them. Administrators can restructure curriculum in creative ways to encourage girls to sign up for CSE courses. Guidance counselors can talk to students to explain what CSE courses are about and what kinds of job opportunities they can offer. If the girls within the school know that teachers, administrators, and guidance counselors are pushing for them to experience what these courses have to offer, more may make an effort at least to see what they are all about.

The project direction that arose from the data received included creation of professional development training for all STEM teachers, administrators, and guidance



counselors (Appendix A). This training could result in experimental strategies to see what impact change can have at this school. Another direction that this project may take is that this school can become a role model to others about increasing the number of girls in CSE.

Social change can occur as schools from all over the world and from any grade level, including higher education, can benefit from the findings of this research. Understanding how educators view this problem is the first step in restructuring CSE courses and ideas to inspire girls to partake in various programming and engineering courses, which then impacts industry as more talent expands innovation.

Summary

Twenty-first century skills rely heavily on science, technology, engineering, and math (STEM) curriculum. Technology is increasingly used and relied upon in today's society. To have true equality, inclusion, and diversity in the classroom, girls must also be involved in this increasingly important field and not be left behind. This involvement will not only benefit the girls who take these courses, but it will also benefit colleges by increasing their enrollments in these majors and the industry as a whole with more people from which to draw ideas.

This problem section describes how the underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses is a widespread and researched problem. There are various reasons why girls do not take these courses based on how they view and believe these courses are as well as the difference between girls' and boys' interests. Change must start in our school system to educate and change stereotypes. We need to understand how teachers, administrators,



and guidance counselors feel about the lack of girls in all CSE courses, if they realize the importance of this underrepresentation of girls, and if they are willing to make changes. These influential people need to recognize their role in moving forward.

The methodology section presents how the research for this project was conducted. It gives details regarding the research design as well as the approach used. Participants are described. How data were collected and analyzed are detailed. Ethical issues such as permissions and consent are clarified. Qualitative results are also explained. The process, data analysis, outcomes, and evidence of quality are examined.

In Section 3, the proposed project is discussed and consists of a description of the project, its goals, and rationale. The review of literature section addresses key research on professional development because the project consists of training for educators. Implementation of the project is also discussed including resources, supports, barriers, and roles and responsibilities are also discussed. The evaluation plan is stated with its outcomes and performance measures. Local and far reaching social change implications are identified as well. Lastly, Section 4 is a discussion of personal reflections, including analysis of scholarship, project development, evaluation, leadership, and change.


Section 2: The Methodology

The methodology used provided the data needed to answer the guiding questions. This qualitative case study included interviewing CSE teachers, administrators, and guidance counselors. Participants were interviewed and then participated in a focus group. Tape recorded audio files from these one-on-one interviews and the focus group were analyzed and coded to find themes within the responses.

Research Design and Approach

A qualitative case study design was used to understand what educators' perspectives are on female students' enrollment in CSE courses. Specifically, in this study I looked at the problem of education not doing enough to encourage more girls to participate in CSE courses. In particular, I asked questions about educators' perspectives on female enrollment and how these educators believe they personally can do something to bring about change and encourage more girls to become interested in these fields. Gaining an understanding to the answers of these questions provides a guideline for this and other educational institutions to focus on how education can do more to inspire girls to pursue CSE education.

Description of Research Design

An instrumental case study research design allows for data to be gathered to understand a question or problem for greater insight into the issue (Hancock & Algozzine, 2006). Case studies are also unique in that they focus on bounded systems



(Merriam, 2009). This type of design approach was best for this study because it focused on a small group in a particular setting that comprises educators in one school. Data provided insights into the thoughts of the people who have influence in making changes to CSE courses within the school. Many studies have been done to determine why girls do not sign up for CSE courses as much as boys, but studying how educators feel about this difference is unique. Participants were able to bring understanding from an educator's point of view. The study was bounded by CSE courses in the high school. The number of students involved in these courses at a particular time and the number of educators who could be interviewed are limited.

In order to understand why girls are underrepresented in CSE courses, it is important to understand what educators' perspectives are on this matter and if they recognize what can be done to effect change. A case study allowed for interviews and a focus group to be conducted to find out what teachers, administrators, and guidance counselors in this school think causes the gender difference in the CSE courses and what ideas they have to make changes. It also allowed the participants to express if they have tried to make changes and what results, if any, they have found. Because literature shows there are specific things that can be done to increase the number of girls in CSE courses, this study was designed to provide insight into how educators accept, resist, or are even aware of these changes. These three categories of educators (teachers, administrators, and guidance counselors) all have various roles in making changes in this particular area, and they can potentially make real change happen.



Justification of Research Design

Because this study was designed to find the perspectives of its participants, quantitative research would not have been appropriate. Collecting data through a questionnaire would not have allowed me to understand the participants' feelings. Quantitative research summarizes its results numerically using statistics. Statistics would not have been able to show how participants feel about an issue as well as a narrative could.

Other qualitative research designs are less effective choices due to the nature of this study. Ethnographic studies focus more on cultural groups and concentrate on a particular setting (Lodico, Spaulding, & Voegtle, 2010). This study focuses on a problem that is worldwide and not restricted to only certain cultural groups or settings. Grounded theory research uses the data gathered to find a theory (Lodico et al., 2010). This study is not developing a theory, but rather understanding how education can make contributions to increase women in CSE. The conclusion is that a case study is the best design for this study.

Participants

The setting was at a high school that includes students from four towns in a suburb in New England. About 1,500 students attend this school. One hundred and six teachers work at the school full time. The greater population includes all the teachers in the high school.



Justification for the Number of Participants

Purposeful sampling was used because it only includes participants involved with CSE, such as the computer science/engineering teachers, administrators, and guidance counselors. The sample included these three types of educators because they have knowledge of some aspect of the CSE courses in the school. Interviewing people who are different types of educators with separate roles allowed for adequate depth of inquiry. Their thoughts and opinions are important because they are the ones who determine if and how courses are run and were able to comment on information regarding these courses. Educators who have no direct involvement with CSE courses were not asked to participate in the study because they do not have insight into the issue and would not be able to take the lead in any possible changes that may happen. At the time of the study, possible participants at the school included one computer science teacher, one engineering teacher, one principal, one associate principal, three assistant principals, eight guidance counselors, and one STEM curriculum coordinator. The sample size included all of these 16 people.

Procedures for Gaining Access to Participants

The high school principal approved the necessary permission to conduct the interviews. Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) also granted approval before proceeding with data collection. Each person in the sample was sent an Invitation Letter (Appendix B) explaining what the study was about and inviting them to participate. One-on-one, face-to-face interviews were conducted in any available office or classroom at the time. E-mail interviews were offered if scheduling a time to meet



was an issue and might have been a factor jeopardizing participation in the study. No email interviews were conducted. After all interviews were over and participants had time to reflect, a focus group was scheduled. This focus group allowed participants to speak to one another about their ideas.

Methods of Establishing a Researcher-Participant Working Relationship

Pre-interview preparations and discussions established a proper working relationship between the participants and me. That process began with informing educators asked to participate as to the purpose of the study. The participants were also informed that they could stop the process at any time and withdraw from participating for any reason. Whether they chose to participate, not participate, or drop out of the process, there would be no repercussions from their decision. Participants were informed that their responses would be kept confidential and would not affect their working environments or relationships.

Measures for Ethical Protection of Participants

The participants in this study are all adults who work in the school. In order to protect participants from unethical treatment, the Informed Consent Form (Appendix C) was read and signed. This form stated that participants willingly volunteer in this study and that they may choose to decline or end their participation at any time without penalty. The form explained the purpose of the study as well as the procedures for conducting the interviews. The consent form also affirmed that Walden IRB reviewed and approved the study and gave contact information should participants want more information. Participants were encouraged to answer honestly for research purposes and reminded that



their answers were confidential and anonymous and would not change any relationships or work-related affairs. No participant or student, if mentioned, was referred to by name. There was no discussion with anyone in or outside of the study regarding responses. Data collected and documents were kept out of view. Confidentiality is important for the integrity of the study.

Data Collection

Each potential interviewee was contacted in person or by e-mail to explain the nature of the study and ask if they would be interested in participating. The Interview Protocol Form (Appendix D) was used as a guide to ask questions and begin discussions.

Questions formed were designed to answer the study's guiding questions about educators' perspectives on female students in CSE courses and how they think courses, teaching strategies, and curriculum changes could encourage more girls to be involved in these courses. There was flexibility with follow up questions asked based on responses and discussion from open-ended questions. The focus group allowed for further discussion among participants.

Data were gathered using semistructured face-to-face interviews. If a participant could not meet face-to-face due to time constraints, the individual was offered the option to conduct the interview via e-mail to accommodate because inclusion of as many participants as possible is of great importance. There were no e-mail interviews conducted. Types of questions included questions of knowledge about the underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses, experience questions regarding what they have observed or done with students in CSE courses, and opinion questions to see how



they feel about making changes in what they do to encourage more girls to take CSE courses. These questions were appropriate for a qualitative study because they are openended. Several days after all interviews were completed, the focus group was scheduled, and participants were invited. Time in this group allowed for open discussion between the educators regarding their ideas.

Ideally, all of the sample would have been included in the interviews, which consisted of 16 educators in various roles throughout the school. In reality, there were only seven participants who were interviewed. A couple of people expressed that they would like to participate but did not feel that they knew anything about the topic. These people included an administrator who was more involved with humanities. E-mail interviews were offered in case someone felt they did not have time to meet face-to-face. No one conducted the interview this way. Each face-to-face interview was scheduled for 30 minutes, but some took more time and some took less depending on the participant.

The focus group was scheduled after school for an hour. The Focus Group Protocol Form (Appendix E) was followed to remind participants why they were there, what they were there to talk over, and start the discussion. Six people participated in the focus group. It was a great opportunity for participants to discuss problems and solutions with each other. The open communication was important so that each educator could see the other educators' point of view and begin to understand how the school as a whole can come together and make changes.

Data were collected during interviews and a focus group, which were scheduled before or after school because that is the best time when we would less likely be



interrupted. These interviews and focus group were held in an available office or classroom. The interviews and focus group were tape recorded. Reflective journals were used after each to record my thoughts about the main points that came out of the interviews.

Data were generated beginning with questions shown in Appendix D. As discussions emerged, follow up questions expanded upon and clarified any uncertainties. All interviews were recorded using an audio tape recorder, which ensured accurate preservation of data for analysis (Merriam, 2009). The focus group allowed participants to discuss their thoughts and ideas with each other. This discussion was also tape recorded.

Reflective journals allowed for initial thoughts to be written down after each interview. Member checking assisted with reliability, credibility and validity. Participants were emailed the transcript of their interview and looked for any inaccuracies. Themes in the data were found from reviewing interview recordings, transcripts of interviews, and reflective journals.

Potential participants were contacted either in person or by e-mail. When these people were asked to participate, they were told what the study is about and how their participation would be valuable. If they chose to participate, they signed the Informed Consent Form (Appendix C) and the meeting time and place was scheduled.

Role of Researcher

I am a technology teacher at the high school and have been employed there for 4 years. The CSE teachers are coworkers with nearby classrooms. There is no previous



relationship with them as they are both new to the school this year. The principal, associate principal, assistant principals, and STEM coordinator all have a supervisory role to me, and one is my primary evaluator. I have a good professional relationship with all the members of the guidance department. These relationships did not affect data collection. I did not allow my opinions, experiences, or biases to be known during data collection. Instead, I focused on the factual responses from participants during the interviews and did not give any indication as to my thoughts.

Data Analysis

How and When Data Were Analyzed

After all interviews and the focus group were completed data analysis took place. Transcriptions from each recorded interview, focus group, and reflective journals were analyzed for differences and similarities between the participants. Data were organized topically and analyzed by hand. Responses were sorted and divided by questions and the three main groups of educators (teachers, administrators, and guidance counselors). Patterns were explored within and between these groups. Member checking was used to make sure data were worded correctly and were unbiased.

Accuracy and Credibility

Coding was used to search for recurring words and ideas for thematic analysis. Themes and relationships among and between the three groups of educators were also analyzed for any commonalities. It was important to supply as much information as possible to explain the findings because qualitative analysis is more of an interpretation of the data. Rich, thick description is detailed and includes dialogue and quotes from



participants, which provided credibility to the analysis. Triangulation using multiple sources of data was also used. Interviewing various types of educators gave the data different perspectives to compare.

Discrepant Cases

Discrepant data that did not fit any theme were analyzed and recorded. Discrepancies were not forced into a category. Instead, they were allowed to remain independent and distinct to show their unique perspectives.

Qualitative Results

Process

Data were generated from conducting face-to-face interviews initially and then a follow-up focus group. The following is a sample of some of the questions: Do you think there is anything that can be done to increase the number of girls in CSE courses? Do you think there is anything that you personally can do to increase the number of girls in CSE courses? What types of changes could be made at the teacher, guidance counselor, and administrative level to increase girls' interest in CSE courses? The full list of questions is in Appendix D.

Data Analyses

Data were gathered, and each interview, as well as the focus group, was tape recorded. These recordings were then transcribed. Member checking was used to be sure the transcriptions were accurate. If clarifications were required, changes were made to the transcript, and member checking was done again to make sure it was acceptable to the participant. Transcriptions were reviewed and separated by question and educator



(teacher, guidance, and administrator). Differences, similarities, and patterns were found within and between each group. Themes included identification of a problem, willingness to make changes, and lack of confidence to make changes alone. Educators from each group understood that the underrepresentation of girls in CSE was a problem and had thought about it before. All were willing to work together to make improvements but were unsure how to make this change on their own.

The problem of the underrepresentation of girls in CSE was clear based on educators' responses to the questions given. Not all participants, but at least one educator within each category of teachers, administrators, and guidance counselors, recognized the underrepresentation as a problem in their school and society.

As shown by Table 1, there was a balance of men and women participants as well as previous STEM experience. There was a wide range of years of experience in education and years working at this particular school. Regardless of gender, years of experience, and previous STEM experience, most participants have previously thought about the underrepresentation of girls in CSE.



Table 1

Educator	Gender	Years in education	Years at this school	Previous STEM experience	Thought of the under- representation of girls in CSE
Teacher 1	Female	10	2	Yes	Yes
Teacher 2	Male	2	2	Yes	Yes
Administrator 1	Female	24	7	No	Yes
Administrator 2	Male	8	1	Yes	Yes
Administrator 3	Male	38	27	No	No
Administrator 4	Male	13	13	Yes	Yes
Guidance 1	Female	6	3	No	Yes

Each Participant Initial Data Collected

Some participants knew there was a shortage of women in these careers, and others assumed there was. Some made connections with their own college experience, others with what they have seen themselves in the industry (either working or observing). There was no real difference based on what type of educator they were.

One woman participant who was in software engineering before becoming a teacher stated "many women who go into software engineering don't stay." A male participant stated "it's always been that male dominated career." Another participant spoke of an advisory board the school has with Project Lead the Way, which is a pre-engineering program. The advisory board partners with local business and manufacturing facilities. During a visit to a local engineering firm, this participant noticed all the workers he saw there were women. When he asked why, the shop manager said it was just a coincidence which workers were on this particular shift. He also stated that he



believed his female workers produced better work than his male workers. This conversation made the participant question, "Why aren't there more females in it?"

Teachers

Both teachers interviewed have tried to sell their courses to all students. They were looking to increase interest and overall numbers in their classes. Although they have thought about the underrepresentation of girls, they have not done anything specifically to target girls. Ideas are discussed as to what can be done to increase the number of girls in CSE courses, but the teachers still feel powerless to enable this change.

Recommendations are important in recruiting students into CSE courses. One teacher believed that students who come to her class through math recommendations are more interested and serious than students who come from guidance recommendations. Students who are recommended from their math teacher do well in math and already show a competence that will make them successful in computer science.

Marketing and word of mouth are other necessary steps in bringing students to CSE courses. Teachers must sell their courses to students who may not know much about them. Word must get out to the general student population in order to increase numbers of students, including girls, to these courses. The teachers also felt that they could personally increase the number of girls in these classes by forming better relationships to bring students in and then these relationships would also help for retention. One teacher stated the following: "It's much more difficult for me if I don't know them or see them in my classroom . . . I try to be very approachable and very supportive." If students like a class, they are more likely to tell their friends about it. If



that particular student is a girl, she can stress the reasons why she likes that class and make it appealing to other girls, which would help with student word of mouth recommendations.

A vital action in making the biggest changes of all would be to change the mindset of what people think CSE is. The male teacher would like to see single gender classes, but both teachers spoke of choosing projects and books that are more appealing to girls. Less gender-based curriculum with open-ended projects that are not gender biased would be more interesting to girls. One teacher stated,

You hear "engineering" and people automatically think big machines, robots, cars, trains. Big stuff like factories. They don't think of toys or make up with organic chemistry, chemical engineers and the stuff that's not going to be geared towards factory. It can be anything.

Both teachers agree that changing the mindset is important but neither know how to make this change.

Role models were also recognized as being significant to seeing an increase in the number of girls in CSE courses. The female teacher thought that using her own industry experience could inspire girls to become more interested. She could be a role model for girls who are interested in computer science especially if they know that her background includes being a software engineer.

Both teachers suspect that other educators in the building could help them increase the number of girls in their classes. They felt that the guidance department needs more information about their classes. That way they can talk more specifically



about them to help recruit students. One teacher pointed out "from their [guidance counselors'] view my courses are very similar."

Participants also felt that administration needs to be supportive of what teachers are trying to do in the classroom. Administrators can recommend students they come across who are not challenged enough, who may be a good fit in a CSE class, or ones who do not fit in a regular classroom. CSE classes tend to be a little different than a traditional class in that there is not as much lecture time, but there is more hands-on time. This type of class may appeal to a certain type of student who an administrator can identify. One teacher identified the type of student who would be good for CSE courses as the following,

There are so many different ways of working in the computer industry. It takes so many different personalities. It takes the precise kids for financial applications and operating system development. It takes the brave, throw everybody aside, leap into it for prototype development. You've got extroverts, introverts, careless and just get it done and bull your way through it, and then you've got the careful, plan through and there is space for everybody in the industry. You just have to find the fit that matches your personality, and that's where you would be the most successful.

When administrators see the various types of students, they can recommend the type of course and even career that they feel is suited for each student.

Another suggestion teachers had is that they would like administrators to market their courses to the community, including other schools in the district that could relay



information to younger students who will be coming to the high school. It also includes taxpayers who would need to approve additional spending for additional equipment, space, and staffing for the growing program. Administrators have more contact and communication with the community than teachers do. They can help sell the courses, raise awareness about what they are, and prepare students for career paths.

Teachers felt that a benefit of having more girls in CSE classes would be that it would eliminate the awkwardness of being the only girl or one of a few in these classes. Problems in the classroom may include seating only one girl, partnering her up, and just overall making her feel comfortable in their class. A barrier that the teachers mentioned is how to change the mindset of what CSE courses are about. One teacher described why they feel students take CSE courses in the following way,

They [boys] think of it in terms of the mechanical things, that's why they [boys] want to come and check it out... The girls who get into it usually are already interested, and they have their mind set that that is where they are going in college or at least through high school, so they stay with our program more.

Both teachers reiterated that they do not believe they have any real solutions to this problem.

Guidance Counselors

It was reported that guidance counselors already talk to all the top ranking math and science students regarding CSE options. However, there is nothing specifically targeting girls. Freshmen are recommended classes from their eighth grade teachers at the middle school. For the sophomore year, all students meet with their guidance



counselor at the high school to go over their options in high school. This meeting is when the guidance department gets to know the students, including their interests and strengths. Although guidance speaks specifically to students (girls and boys) in high level math and science classes about CSE courses, what they find is that these students usually have such a busy schedule, they do not have time in their schedules for these electives. Students in advanced math and science classes usually are in other advanced classes and trying to take as many college requirements as possible and do not have time to try other classes. As she pointed out, "It would have to be within their four year plan."

The guidance counselor interviewed had some ideas about how to increase the number of girls in CSE courses. Introducing CSE courses in the middle school would help introduce what CSE is to virtually all students because almost all students must take technology courses in middle school. This introduction would help create an early interest and allow students to try these courses before their busy high school schedule. Exposure is important because when students come to guidance and ask what it is about, counselors can only talk about it and show them the description in the program of studies. If they already knew something about it or if they could show students something, it may help them to understand what it is. The guidance counselor expressed, "It's the depth of knowledge I have about the course is going to persuade a kid into taking the class or not." The program of studies is great describing courses on an adult level, but it is not as helpful to students. Wording could change to target the audience. Also, teachers could provide more information to the guidance department regarding their classes. Possible examples could be syllabi, sample projects, a video showing students engaged in



43

activities, as well as anything else that may demonstrate what each course does. These examples could be shown to students in guidance or advisories. This knowledge would be helpful to guidance in all classes, not just CSE courses.

According to the guidance counselor, another way to increase girls' interest in CSE courses is to have math and science teachers raise awareness of careers that are available in CSE. Teachers showing students that CSE courses prepare for many types of jobs in these fields will help to eliminate the stereotype of what CSE is. The counselor believes that if teachers can show that these courses will matter in the future for these students, it will make a difference. A career day sponsored by the guidance department was another idea that guidance believes will make students more aware of careers in CSE. The guidance counselor would like administration to support what they try to do including awareness events, such as these career days. She also thinks administration can help with creating flexible schedules such as the availability of night school options to deal with the time issue in students' schedules. Flexible schedules would allow students to try other courses at night or take required classes at night to free up more time during the school day to take other classes.

During the interview, the guidance counselor could not think of any barriers or benefits that having more girls in CSE might create. However, she believes the problem of underrepresentation is a national issue. Schools have CSE courses but girls are not utilizing them because of stereotypes and they are not fully aware of all the types of engineering jobs there are. She states that the school has an equal number of boys and girls taking math and science classes but not in the area of specific CSE classes.



Administrators

More than one administrator shared information about a former STEM coordinator. This was a woman who worked at the school about 6 years ago. She tried a "Women in Engineering" program that targeted gifted and talented students in math, science, and engineering. It involved a partnership with industry and she took many students on field trips. A couple of administrators described this program in the following ways: "I don't know if that was an initiative or a one-time shot." "That was really exciting when she started that here. When she left, it fell by the wayside." Unfortunately, there was no recorded increase in girls in the engineering classes during her employment or after she left in spite of her efforts. Another administrator had experienced career days at his former school and stated,

One of the things our guidance department would strive for was to get male and female representation especially in male dominated professions such as engineering . . . It was a conscious decision to go get female engineers to come in and speak.

Having a career day is something that guidance would like to see happen, as well as administration.

Several administrators mentioned female role models as one way to increase the number of girls in CSE courses. These role models can include teachers, having a career day with people from the field, including graduates of the school, and even just highlighting role models in society. They also mentioned having guidance reach out to students who are good in math and science to encourage them to try a CSE courses. The



underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses was also mentioned as a societal problem that needs to be addressed. One administrator believes "we need to break down the defined roles and highlight the females that are being productive in technology and engineering and show that you can still be girly and be an engineer. I just don't think our society as a whole does a very good job at that." There is a new dean coming into the school next year and one administrator talked about how this person could be helpful in implementing changes. Whatever comes of this study could be part of this new dean's responsibility.

Administrators believe that if they support teachers and others trying to increase the number of girls in these courses, it will help. They can educate teachers about raising awareness, about which skill sets to look for, and about how to send students forward. Administration can also talk about these skills and courses and encourage students who may have potential in this area to pursue this path. Another idea administration had was to look at what other schools are doing and see if they have increased female enrollment. The school is going for certification in Project Lead the Way, which is an engineering program. This program looks for minorities and females to be in the program so the school feels like they will have to increase these numbers in order to become certified. The school board has told administration that they want the school to have a career day. Administration feels that a career day could also be a chance to bring in people from the community to promote these courses. One administrator stated "I would try to make a conscious effort to find some females, whether they are graduates or whoever are engineers or in the tech world. I don't want them to come speak as the token female but



as the expert in this technology or this sort of engineering." The new dean was also mentioned again as being someone who could help implement these changes.

According to administration, teachers have to do more public relations, recruiting, marketing, and just reach out to students to increase female interests in CSE courses. They also suggested balancing the curriculum for both genders, so that all students are interested in it. Another proposal was to bring women in to talk about CSE, so girls feel like they belong there. Administrators also believe that if teachers advertise and include trendy activities it could increase female interest. According to one administrator, "it has to be cool, out there, and offer something other than just 7:00 to 2:00. There have to be some activities they are doing that are bigger than just a lab during the school day. It has to be sexy. You have to market it." Creating a video of what goes on in these classes may help with any misconceptions. Participants also stated that they would like to see educators start talking about these programs earlier to get kids excited about these courses early and foster the love of these skills. Creating love and excitement may be done by not supporting misconceptions from elementary teachers up through high school teachers. Having stronger female role models at the elementary level who are strong in math and science when students are introduced to these topics would help build confidence at a young age. Another suggestion was to hire a science specialist at the elementary level. Many schools have reading and math specialists, why not science? This focus on science could encourage all students in STEM courses.

Administration would like guidance to do what they want teachers to do, which is to identify strengths that students might not be aware of and have conversations with



them. Having adults be more involved with students will help to encourage students to not have fear to pursue new paths. One administrator feels that adults need to take more responsibility and explain the importance of future careers and opportunities to students. Other suggestions were to have college fairs, career days, bring people in from our school board and community to speak, and visit classrooms to focus on careers. An administrator said that they need to "keep putting it in front of people to see it as an option." Another administrator wished guidance profiled students to see what kinds of interests they have, what kinds of learners they are, what their assets are, what their testing scores and grades are, etc. Their justification was,

Sometimes you don't even know what your strengths are until you fall into it or guided their by parents, teachers, guidance counselors, or administrators . . . Just for someone to identify a strength, nourish it, guide it, and let it grow . . . It can be

life affirming and life changing for both of you. That's the magic of what we do. Another administrator stated that most of the students in AP math and science are girls and encouraging them to branch out into CSE courses is the next step. Two administrators mentioned the new dean coming in and working with guidance to accomplish this goal.

Articulating goals and giving clear expectations for teachers to institute new policies is something administration feels they can do effectively. They can support but not dictate to teachers about what goes on in the classroom. It is thought that if administration supports teachers, teachers can then support students. Administration can encourage teachers to try different curricula while also encouraging guidance to bring



people into the school or go out on field trips. The new dean was mentioned again as someone to help with this support. Lastly, administration stated that they need to be conscious of what they say and not perpetuate stereotypes. As one administrator put it, "if administration does that [perpetuate the stereotype] then teachers subconsciously perpetuate that stereotype too."

Money was mentioned as an important barrier. CSE courses are expensive with the required software and equipment. Administrators feel they need to make people understand the importance of it to have the community buy into it. One administrator stated,

We have to do these 21st century skills, engineering, computer, and technology, and it's going to cost money. That's just where the world is headed so we have to spend it. We don't know where they are going to be, but we know we need to prepare them for it.

The stronger the math, science, and engineering is in a school, the stronger the school is and the better its reputation. The better the school, the stronger the community, the more students feel successful. Success stories from within the community may be very inspirational. Another barrier is that schools do not know the jobs they are preparing students for in the future, but they feel the need to explain that STEM is where the economy and opportunities are going to be. Other barriers include the number of seats and courses offered. A concern is that if more girls were interested in these courses then there would be fewer seats or courses available for boys. Then the programs would need to expand, which means more tax money or eliminating other positions. One



administrator could only see benefits. This participant felt that girls are better at math and science so with more women engineers who knows what possibilities we could have with a more well-rounded society.

Administration felt that there needs to be a mind shift in and outside of the school. Placement of classrooms can even be telling of how much it is valued. For example, the engineering class is down a side hallway next to woodworking and feels like a workshop. Having it showcased in the middle of the school with windows would allow everyone to see what goes on in there. It was also mentioned that girls need role models so they can see themselves successful in these types of classes.

Focus Group

During the focus group, all participants had time to think about their responses to their individual interviews. An administrator recalled that the engineering teacher asked about teaching one class a day at the middle school. They are working on aligning curriculum for Grades 6-12, which would be a great opportunity to expose all students to engineering classes earlier. They feel that by ninth grade students already have solidified their interests. Discussions have not been around increasing the number of girls in these courses, just increasing exposure and the number of all students, boys and girls. However, they feel that if they start educating about engineering early, they may change the mindset and preconceived notions about it.

Both teachers and administrators believe teachers marketing their classes will increase the number of students, including girls, in their classes. These two groups also



believe that female interest would increase if the curriculum changes to have non-gender specific activities.

All the groups agree that administration can be supportive of all educators who are trying new things and initiating change. Educators from all groups also realize the problem is not just in their school and feel that the stereotypes and mindsets need to change. They feel that this global problem is something beyond their control. When speaking about their school or their roles specifically, they have more confidence that change can be made. One administrator summed it up like this,

We need to do a better job in public relations in every aspect of our lives here. We need to really look at how we market our courses to our kids. And not just to have full courses but to ready them for the workforce. What jobs are out there right now? What skill sets do you need to be successful in the 21st century?

Guidance and administration believe that guidance counselors should have career days and stress the importance of CSE classes on future jobs. They felt it was something that all students have to go to. Not a sign up where just those interested in a certain career because that will not expose all students. Exposure within classes students are already in was also discussed. Students are already exposed to certain aspects of CSE in some of their math and science classes, but it may not be presented in a way that is clear. Specific wording and emphasis on topics needs to be addressed, so students know "this is science, but it is also engineering." Guidance would like to see teachers highlight careers associated with each unit. The engineering teacher agrees because he sees science experiments being conducted in the halls that are part of his curriculum. When he sees



that they are already doing it somewhere else, he skips over it in his class.

Communication between departments would solve this problem and align curriculum within the school. Administration would like to include the middle school in this communication as well. They would like to see this conversation continue with some face-to-face meetings and a wiki created so educators can give more input.

Outlying data included one interview that was different from the rest. The participant was familiar with humanities, but did not know much about STEM. There was one other administrator who spoke to me personally explaining why she did not want to participate in the study. Her concern was that she too was not familiar with the topic of my study. I tried to encourage her to still participate, but she felt like she would not have anything to contribute. I feel that more people did not participate due to the same reasons. Other than the outlier, educators who chose to participate did so because they had already been thinking about the underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses. The outlying participant did have some good insights and suggestions after some thought about it. He was also very appreciative of learning about this problem.

Themes

There were themes that emerged from the analysis of the data, including all educators recognizing a problem and wanting change. Another theme that was mentioned often is communication and collaboration. Each group of educators had ideas and had tried various strategies to begin the change process. Most did not discuss these ideas or strategies with other educators.



52

CSE teachers would like guidance counselors, administration, and other teachers to better understand what they do and what goes on in their classrooms. Guidance counselors would like more information from teachers and support from administration. Administration would like an open dialog with all educators. Communication and collaboration within and between each of these groups of educators would allow students to receive consistent, accurate, and helpful direction regarding courses and careers.

Evidence of Quality

This study used the following procedures to address the accuracy of data. Member checking was used. Participants were emailed a transcript of their interview and asked to make any corrections or clarifications as needed. Triangulation with the three types of educators was also used. The same questions were asked of the teachers, guidance counselors, and administrators. These answers were compared to each other to see if there were different views of this problem or different suggestions for change. There were some different viewpoints within and between the types of educators, but at least one participant from each group thought there was a problem in the school regarding the underrepresentation of girls in CSE. Participants from each group had thought about this problem and solutions to it. It was clear from the focus group that all parties are willing to do what they can and have more open communication to help increase the number of girls in CSE in the school.

Outcomes

This study has answered the guiding questions as to what educators' perspectives are on female students' enrollment in CSE courses and what educators' views are about



making changes to encourage girls to be more involved with programming and engineering courses. Educators' perspectives on female students' enrollment in CSE courses believed that there is a problem locally and globally. They agree that the number of boys in CSE courses outnumber the number of girls. Most people interviewed, regardless of years of experience, gender, or STEM experience, have thought about this issue as a problem and would like to see the number of girls in CSE courses increase. Educators' views about making changes to encourage girls to be more involved with CSE courses were also consistent. All participants were not only eager to make changes but also had ideas about what teachers, guidance counselors, and administrators can do to increase the number of girls in CSE courses. They even had ideas about strategies that each of them can do personally but have not tried. Just having these conversations with each other during the focus group was encouraging to everyone involved because they had similar concerns and realized that if they worked together change is possible.

It was clear that everyone interviewed was willing and enthusiastic to make changes so the project will be guidelines and professional development for school wide changes to take place to address the problem of the underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses. Guidelines would include ways to identify female students who have the qualities to be successful in CSE courses. These qualities would include girls with high performance or accelerated math/science courses, good problem-solving abilities, and expressing an interest in computers or engineering. Once a female student is identified there will be guidelines in place to forward that information to the appropriate educator for follow-up discussions with the student. The first step in professional development



would be to increase awareness of what CSE is. The professional development would consist of all educators in the building being aware of the goal of the school, which is to increase the number of female students in CSE courses. Changing the mindset of what these courses and careers are and equal opportunity for all will be part of the explanation of why this is a new goal of the school. All educators will be able to see examples of work that students do in these courses and what types of jobs are available for them if they pursue this as a career. The second step in professional development is to make each department aware of their role in this change, which in part, includes teachers recommending students to guidance that they feel are a good fit with the CSE program. Guidance should be able to explain fully what these programs have to offer. Administration needs to support whatever teachers and guidance needs from them to accomplish this change successfully.



Section 3: The Project

Introduction

Professional development will be the project for this study. Three modules will provide professional development for teachers, administrators, and guidance counselors. It will involve training, collaboration, and communication within and outside of the school. Time for three professional development days throughout the school year will be required. Each module will be evaluated based on post self-assessment and reflection sheets.

Description and Goals

The project for this study will consist of professional development for all educators at the school studied. The overall goal of this project is to increase the number of girls taking CSE courses. In order to accomplish the overall goal, subgoals need to be achieved, including raising awareness of gender bias, becoming cognizant of attitudes and terminology used, educating about what CSE is, experiencing what goes on inside classrooms, and informing about careers.

The first module consists of professional development for all educators. It will focus on self-awareness regarding gender bias in teaching, closing the gender gap in science and engineering, and brainstorming and sharing ideas. Each educator will be asked to reflect on various habits in the classroom. Are boys and girls treated differently? Does the curriculum unknowingly have bias material in it? Activities will raise



awareness of gender bias and require a second look at how educators handle themselves, what they say, and what their curriculum demonstrates. Educators need to learn to use the correct terminology to inform all students that they have equal opportunities regardless of gender. Similarly, they need to be positive and confident in their language. For example, teachers should not be telling students that math and science are hard. They should be encouraging that all students can be successful in these areas.

Common language also includes terminology in all STEM (science, technology, engineering, and math) areas. As discussed earlier, teachers are already teaching bits and pieces of CSE in other courses, such as math and science. These sections need to be pointed out to students so that they can understand what is involved in these courses and recognize that it is not that different from what they are already studying. In order to do convey this knowledge effectively, educators will be trained in what exactly CSE is, what the courses cover, and what types of careers are available in these areas. Once educators better understand the content of these courses and the types of career opportunities they present, then they can begin to make all students aware of this information and what the school can do to help them.

Each educator will leave the first session with a self-observation assignment they must complete over the following week. After the self-observation, they must conclude with a post self-assessment to measure any changes in attitude or behavior.

The second module of professional development is designed to increase communications within the school, which entails administrators and guidance counselors rotating through classrooms. Each teacher will share an overview or demonstration of



what each of their courses involves. This information will clear up any misconceptions about courses, curriculum, and teachers. Not only will administration know what is going on in their building but the information will allow guidance to properly and knowledgeably guide students. Counselors will be able to hear, see, and experience firsthand teachers, courses, projects, and exams. They can also take their own notes that they can refer to when counseling a student. Guidance counselors and administrators need to meet with teachers to gain a better understanding about what goes on in each class. They are the main liaison between students and the courses they choose.

The third module involves communication with the community. Having a career day permits community members to come in and inform educators about the diverse jobs available, what these jobs entail, and what courses are important in getting these jobs. A career day will educate everyone about all the possibilities students have. Teachers can relate these careers to their curriculum. Guidance counselors can disseminate career information with students. Administration can connect with the community and possibly make course and curriculum changes to fit the ever changing job market.

Administration needs to set clear goals of what they want to happen and provide support to all educators. They need to let teachers know that the goals are better communication, mindfulness of gender issues, increasing awareness of CSE, and growing the number of girls in these courses. Although it is already a technology driven school, educators need to understand that increasing the numbers of students in CSE courses will make the school more visible to others in the community and show that all students are being prepared for a technological future. The engineering program is already preparing



to make changes as the school gets ready for certification in Project Lead the Way (PLTW). PLTW provides a "hands-on, rigorous" curriculum to students in engineering (Lawanto, Santoso, & Liu, 2012, p. 154). It also provides course-specific professional development and must approve teachers before they are allowed to teach the curriculum (Daugherty & Custer, 2012). The program partners the engineering program in the school with local industry. One of the objectives of the program is to increase the number of minorities and women in engineering. The rest of the school needs to be aware of PLTW, how the program connects the school to industry in the community, and what educators in the building can do to support this endeavor.

Rationale

Most educators involved in this study had similar thoughts and goals of increasing the number of girls in CSE but were not successful with making desired changes. The data from this study have shown that the educators involved are willing to communicate and work together to increase the number of female students in CSE courses; however, there was a lack of understanding how to accomplish this goal. The project that is best suited for this project study is professional development for all educators. After the three modules are complete, all educators will be better informed about themselves, their colleagues, what is going on in the building they work in, and in the community in which they live.

The problem will be addressed through the content of the project by educating teachers, guidance counselors, and administrators about the underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses. They will understand that this problem is present in their school as well



as others. They will read and watch a short video about this problem in schools and learn techniques that they can use to combat this problem. These educators will also learn about CSE as it pertains to their school, their courses, and the workforce. Participating in this professional development will allow all educators to gain a similar knowledge that then can be transferred to students consistently. In turn, students, especially those who have limited knowledge or have previously been reluctant about these courses, will benefit from this knowledge. Professional development is the best way to address the problem of the underrepresentation of girls in CSE. It will allow the various types of educators to be trained, become aware of their current practices, and learn how each group of educators can collaborate with the other educators in their building and within the community.

Review of Literature

This literature review was conducted predominantly using Walden University's online library. Various types of professional development were searched including teacher, guidance counselor, and administrator professional development. Math, science, technology, computer science, and engineering training were also explored. Professional development regarding design, effectiveness, communication, collaboration, attitudes, growth, changing mindsets, and gender was investigated as well.

Professional Development

According to Learning Forward (2014), the main goals of professional learning are to affect the practices of the educator and to increase the learning of students. Changing the outlook of educators to realize their influence on girls in CSE courses



would in essence be changing educators' practices, which in turn will increase the learning of these female students. Successfully meeting these goals requires time and support. Learning Forward also described effective learning designs to include active engagement, reflection, application, feedback, and ongoing support. Educators will need to be actively involved in their training to benefit from it. They will need to reflect on how they perceive and treat students of both genders. Application of the learning will be essential to creating change. Feedback will allow all educators to reevaluate their strategies and adjust if necessary. Lastly, support must be ongoing so that the goals of the learning are not forgotten.

Changing the mindset of these educators will in turn change the mindset of students. Students need to perceive themselves as problem solvers who can accept any challenge (Pawlina & Stanford, 2011). An essential element of this training is for educators to perceive all students equally as problem solvers. According to Akiba (2012), two types of professional learning programs include professional development and collaboration. Akiba also defined professional learning as "cognitive changes in . . . knowledge and beliefs" (p. 3) but this "learning is not guaranteed solely by their participations in these activities" (p. 3). Professional development should provide for teacher growth and collaboration (Lee, 2010). Lee also stated that professional development should form a shared vision and create a community. All educators in the school must learn and support change (Vermont DOE, 2011). In order for the entire school to come together and do their part in increasing the number of girls in CSE



courses, they must all buy into it. Each educator needs a complete understanding of their part and how it all comes together in achieving the result.

Professional development should also address concerns recognized by the educators themselves (Marra et al., 2011). Many of the educators involved in the study have "first-hand knowledge of strategies and programs being implemented and are an invaluable source when planning professional development" (Varela, 2012, pp. 19-20). Bringing these people together to discuss and develop a plan to implement specific strategies about how to achieve their goal is important for the success of the project. Including teachers and guidance counselors in the decision making process is critical to their comfort level and participation. According to O'Meara and Terosky (2010), professional growth includes learning and professional relationships. These relationships are reinforced through common learning and are important to intellectual growth. As the study showed, the process in place right now for course sign-ups is ineffective for all courses, not just CSE courses. However, it is especially noticeable in CSE courses because they are electives that students and other teachers in the building do not know much about. Learning how to improve communication between all educators is vital in providing students with correct and helpful information about what courses entail and what is best for each student.

Collaboration

Riveros (2012) advised administration to remember teacher learning and knowledge when attempting school reform. Riveros also stated that teacher learning is important to making changes in schools, which includes "peer collaboration."


Collaboration is defined as shared responsibility working toward a common goal (Brown, Brewster, Karides, & Lukas, 2011). In the case of this study, administration may not necessarily be making decisions about the specific steps involved getting to the common goal, but they need to relay these goals to everyone so that all the educators will know what they are striving for and why. Administrators should support interactions between colleagues that allow them to help each other in finding resolutions to problems (Eson-Brizo, 2010). Adequate time is necessary for this collaboration.

One of the barriers to this project includes a challenge for collaboration time (Murphrey, Miller, Harlin, & Rayfield, 2011). Administration must agree to set aside time for this professional development to be successful. This time would allow the various types of educators to get together to participate in the professional development modules. In this study, the participants have already expressed ideas to implement change. The problem has been that each educator had their own opinion about how to achieve this change, and it does not necessarily coincide with the other educators' views. Although these ideas may all be a step in the right direction, implementing each change individually is not enough to see results. Collaboration is important in making new procedures within the school and then having these procedures impact students, or in this case the number of girls in CSE courses.

Custom Goals for Each Educator

The professional development for teachers needs to guide them to understand the need for the change and the steps necessary for this change. According to Petrie and McGee (2012), professional development "ought to focus on teachers as both learners



and teachers" (p 70). They also stated that there are a couple of goals linked especially to teacher professional development. These goals include "the goal of designing and implementing professional development that increases teacher learning" (p. 69) and "the goal of simultaneously meeting outcomes associated with student learning and achievement in specific classroom contexts" (p. 69). This information translates into training that is "targeted for and deliver proven results for students—real learning gains and skills that make them competitive in the workplace" (Pianta, 2011, p. 2).

Guidance counselors will need professional development that is similar to the teachers. According to Johnson, Rochkind, and Ott (2010), guidance counselors are adults "trained to offer advice, options, and assistance" (p. 74), which is crucial because "students who don't have access to good counseling are not making the most advantageous choices about postsecondary education and work" (p. 77). This professional development must ensure that counselors are trained to give the best advice. Ediger (1991a) stated that counselors should work with teachers and participate in curriculum development. Ediger (1991b) also defined the role of guidance counselors to include not only helping students, but it also helping teachers to help students.

Students in this school often go to guidance counselors looking for advice about which courses and career paths to take. Unfortunately, it depends on the individual knowledge of each counselor and specific information can be hit or miss. Professional development for all guidance counselors will give them more information about courses and careers, which will then lead to more information students have access to. According to Chinedum, Onwuasoanya, and Eze (2012), "school guidance counselors . . . can



contribute seriously to national development" by providing "proper perspective, exposure, and orientation to the world" (p. 1045). Guidance counselors need to be aware of not only what is going on in the world around them, but also what is going on in their school so that they can provide helpful guidance to students.

Professional learning for administration will need to be more of a collaboration. It is the responsibility of administrators to clearly communicate the school's vision and goals (Rieckhoff & Larsen, 2012). Then they must be responsible for creating an encouraging atmosphere, which motivates other educators to achieve these goals (Adegbessan, 2013). Administrators will need to understand their role in implementing change and support teachers and guidance counselors in order to be successful. The will also need to ensure that conditions exist to ensure effective implementation of the professional development plan.

"In order to change educational practices at school, teacher training must be a main priority" according to Alvarez-Alvarez, Fernandez-Diaz, and Osoro-Sierra (2012, p. 521). They also discussed that the two main objectives of training is "to change educational practice" and "to generate knowledge in action." The goal of this professional development is to change the practice of how educators refer to CSE and generate more girls into these courses. High quality professional development needs "collective participation" (Blank, 2013) so in order for training to show the greatest results, all educators must participate. Varela (2012, p. 20) stated "professional development that fails to incorporate teachers' input . . . will not provide effective and productive learning experiences." According to Patti, Holzer, Stern, and Brackett (2012,



p. 264), "effective professional development happens when the adult learner connects personally to the new learning." This training must express to all educators the importance of this change and show students the entire school is committed to this improvement. Administration motivates teachers and guidance counselors. Teachers and guidance counselors motivate students. It is a process that requires an involvement from all levels.

Zaman (2008) conducted a study regarding gender sensitive teaching which used an Attitude about Teaching Scale (ATS) and a Reflective Based Observation (RBO). The ATS is a questionnaire for educators to see how gender sensitive their attitudes are. There are questions about boys and girls regarding behavior, preferences, curriculum, etc. Answers can be checked against a rubric so that each educator can see how gender sensitive they are. The next step would be for each educator to do the RBO, which allows for self-reflection. There are several scenarios given and the educator must observe boys and girls behaviors during these scenarios and then observe how they react to these behaviors. The ATS and RBO (Appendix A) will be included in the professional development plan because it will allow educators to begin to think about their own feelings and reactions to gender issues. Awareness is the first step toward change.

Description

The professional development plan (Appendix A) includes training to increase communication, knowledge, and ideas throughout each department. For example, it was determined that the guidance department needs more information about courses offered in the school but it was not decided upon how this transfer of information should happen.



Before this study, educators from each department had thought about the underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses but were unable to make changes on their own. During this study, participants were encouraged to hear that others in and outside of their departments felt the same. This chance for open communication and collaboration between the departments is critical to implement the right changes that they decide will work for them.

All educators have a role to play. Teachers will receive training to understand the importance of using the correct terminology in the classroom and to explain when a topic is an engineering or computer science topic. They will also be taught to use language that does not condemn women or criticize math and science. Teachers and guidance must work together and have open lines of communication. Guidance has a duty to students to give them the best information they possibly can regarding courses and careers. They will receive training that gives them this information. Training will include knowledge of current and up-coming jobs and what previous knowledge is required for these jobs. It will also include specific examples of what is going on right in their own building. Lastly, it is essential that administration support what everyone else is doing.

Needed Resources

Resources needed include time and space for collaboration and training. There will be a day of training for all educators. They will also be asked to evaluate themselves over the following week to look for behaviors, attitudes, and signs of gender bias in their classrooms, curriculum, and general conversations with students. Training will include



some reading material, videos, and discussion. Handouts, a computer, and projection equipment will be required for this day of training. Another day will be required for inhouse classroom visits, which will allow guidance and administration to learn more about what goes on it classrooms so they can better assist students will course selections. Lastly will be another day dedicated to career education. Having a career day will not only inform students, but will be valuable to all educators in the building. Cooperation and time needed for these events is critical to the success of the project.

Existing Supports

Existing supports consist of cooperation among all departments. As the study showed, people are willing to move forward with changes and are excited about change, which is a significant support. Backing from all involved is crucial to making this work and to the success of the project. Each of the educators involved has the potential to grow personally and professionally from this knowledge. Self-evaluation that makes one realize something that they may have been doing is eye opening. Being open to this growth is the first step in making changes.

Potential Barriers

Time is the biggest barrier. Lack of time is often an issue in education. There is always so much to do and not enough time to do it. Administration needs to be committed to this professional development to dedicate three days of training. Another barrier would be scheduling community members to come in for the career day because it will take much time and effort. Discussing the career day as a school may help the process so that any educators and students who know of someone who may be willing to



come in and speak can arrange it. The more people involved in the planning, the more diverse the careers and the participants of the career day. The challenge will be to get everyone there on the scheduled day. This barrier will also require commitment and dedication.

Implementation

Implementation of the project can begin immediately and will take some planning and scheduling of dates. The three days of professional development can be spread out over the school year. It could take at least a year or longer to see the results and if it translates into increased numbers of girls in CSE. The school would not know until it sees the number of girls enrolled in these courses. Teachers would need reminders every year of this goal and the strategies to achieve the goal.

Roles and Responsibilities

Each educator has a role in this project and shared responsibility to make it successful. They must take part in the training, the in class learning, and the career day. Specifically, teachers must allow guidance counselors and administrators into their classrooms to discuss what their courses entail and provide descriptions and examples of coursework and projects. Guidance counselors will be primarily responsible for organizing the career day and scheduling community members as speakers. Administration must organize each of these events by scheduling times and places for all training. My role will be to conduct the training on the professional development day and check in with each group of educators to be sure the scheduled events are ready and run



smoothly. I will also be looking over the evaluations to see how effective the training was and what can be done differently next time.

Project Evaluation

The evaluation of this project is outcome based. At the end of the first module in Appendix A, participants will do a self-observation and then complete a self-assessment to determine if there were any attitude or behavioral changes after completing the first phase of professional development. After modules two and three there will be a reflection form to fill out. This reflection will determine what participants have learned, what they found valuable, what they still have questions about, and, lastly, if and how they will use the information they learned. Lastly, there will be a wiki for teachers to contribute to. The wiki will allow all teachers to get ideas from each other regarding ways to incorporate CSE skills and terminology into their courses. It also allows guidance and administration to gather this data and help direct teachers who are struggling. Follow through of these ideas can be tracked to be sure everyone is doing their part to help educate about CSE.

Only when the school confirms that the numbers of girls in CSE courses increased, will it know that the efforts of all the educators involved were successful. It may be a gradual increase over an extended period. The problem discussed in the study was the underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses. Any significant increase in the number of girls would be considered a success.

One of the reasons professional development is not always successful is because it is one-shot training without any follow up (Daugherty & Custer, 2012). Part of the



evaluation process needs to include continuous training as deemed necessary.

Administration should allow time for procedures to be reviewed every year so educators can see that it is considered an important initiative the school is undertaking. Numbers of girls in CSE courses need to be given to all educators so they can see the results of their efforts. Improving results could be a motivation to continue with procedures or make changes to increase the desired results. As more girls begin to sign up for CSE courses, educators will feel that their work has paid off, and they have all collectively made a difference.

Justification

Outcome based evaluation determines if the project has reached its desired results and shows if the project has made a difference and made lives better because of the project (Foundation Center, 2014). Using an outcome based evaluation for this project was best because if the result does not increase the number of girls in CSE then the project was not successful. Results reported back to the school will provide answers to questions, including if educators' attitudes and actions have changed, as a result of their training. It would also determine if educators increased their communications in and out of the building in which they work. Ultimately, decisions can be made about improving the specific details of the professional development.

Outcomes and Performance Measures

Short term outcomes and performance measures include educators' attitudes and behaviors related to CSE courses and gender inequalities in the classroom, which will be measured through the evaluation process and follow up discussions. Determining how



many educators made changes in their classrooms based on knowledge gained from the professional development will gauge how successful this training was. Assessing which parts of the training were most effective is imperative moving forward.

Long term outcomes and performance measures consist of increasing the number of girls in CSE courses in the building. With positive short term changes in educators and classrooms, it is expected that more girls will take CSE courses. Enrollment numbers in these courses will measure this change. Any increase of girls would be considered a success of the project.

Evaluation Goals

There are several goals of the evaluation process. They are to:

- Determine if all educators know what CSE is, what is done in CSE courses in the building, and what kinds of jobs are related to these courses.
- Have all educators be aware of gender inequalities in the classroom and in the curriculum.
- Put into practice a common language for CSE in all classes.
- Ultimately increase the number of girls in CSE courses in the building.

Key Stakeholders

Key stakeholders include teachers, guidance counselors, and administration. Other important stakeholders also include community members because success of at least part of this project needs their support. These people will potentially be guest speakers to teach faculty, staff, and students about what they do and what educators can do to help students acquire the skills they need to achieve their goals and become



successful. This project is a community project and will require cooperation and involvement from all to succeed.

Implications Including Social Change

Local Community

Increasing the numbers of girls in CSE courses at this school will help the girls in this community to have more job options. Taking more CSE courses allows girls from this school to have an advantage over girls from neighboring communities because they will be exposed to and have experience in CSE. This exposure will provide opportunities to them in college and in the workforce that other girls will lack.

The community may also change their view of this school as a more technologically advanced school. Once word gets out that more girls are taking CSE courses and more girls from this school are going into these fields as opposed to surrounding towns, the public will form an opinion about what kind of school it is and what goes on there. Parents may want their daughters to go to this school, especially if they are interested in technology. The school could have more students because parents and students may stay in the public school system rather than transfer to private schools. It may even make the district a more desirable place to live if it is perceived as a cuttingedge school providing equal opportunities for all students. This study has the potential to affect the local community dramatically.

Far-Reaching

Should this school see their number of girls in CSE rise, they could be an example for other schools. If more schools could follow the same process, it could mean a larger



population of girls from all across the United States and beyond would be exposed to CSE courses. As more and more girls become interested in these courses at the high school level, the number of girls in colleges majoring in CSE would increase. This increase, in turn, would raise the number of women in these careers, provide more job opportunities for girls, and essentially change the CSE fields with more female influences.

Conclusion

Professional development will put all educators on the same path for implementing change in their building. Each department has a role to fill so that collectively they make a school-wide transformation. Evaluation will determine if educators have learned from and changed their beliefs and attitudes based on the professional development. As each semester passes, and there are more girls in these courses, it will be clear if the project is successful.



Section 4: Reflections/Conclusion

Project

Strengths

The project's strengths in addressing the problem are that, at the very least, all educators will be exposed to the problem of the underrepresentation of girls in CSE. As Skouteris, Watson, and Lum (2012) stated, "A knowledgeable and skillful teacher makes the greatest impact on student learning achievements" (p. 78). If some of these educators were not aware that a problem existed, it will be brought to their attention, and they will be asked to think about it, if they may be contributing to the problem, and talk about possible solutions to the problem.

Another strength of the project is that creating an environment for open communication will not only benefit girls in CSE classes but all students in all classes. The career fair will showcase all types of careers, not just computer science or engineering. Educators are not only responsible for teaching students but also for advising them in their career choices (Mahon & Packman, 2011). The in-house walkthroughs will allow guidance counselors and administration to learn about all courses in the building, not just computer science or engineering. This collaboration has the potential to benefit all educators and students in some way.

Limitations

Limitations of the project include elements beyond anyone's control. For example, educators who are absent during a professional development day will miss out



on what was covered that day. They can get the material, but it will not be the same as being there and experiencing it. Another limitation would be the extent of effort and honesty the participants are willing to give, which includes filling out worksheets about how they treat students and doing the post self-observations. The educators could do this self-observation half-heartedly and not get as much out of it, or they may not be willing to see themselves objectively. Lastly, the career day could be the limited by the community members' careers and willingness to participate. It may not be possible to find people from all careers the school is interested in showcasing. It also may not be possible to find enough people willing to share their knowledge with others, which would be a limitation to the project because adults influence students' college ambitions (King, 2012). These limitations may be able to be overcome by stressing to educators and the community the importance of this project and how it will affect students. As long as the strengths outweigh the limitations, the overall project can be successful.

Recommendations

This study approached the problem of the underrepresentation of girls in CSE by interviewing educators for their perspectives on the subject and how willing they were to make changes. An alternative way to address this problem would be to interview students to see their perspectives on why they are not choosing to take these classes. The results of that study would determine if the students, parents, and educators need training to become more knowledgeable about the subject matter. The professional development may be more along the lines of workshops for everyone in the community to understand the problem and address the specific issues that students put forth.



Analysis of Process

Scholarship

The process of this research development has shown scholarship in unexpected ways. Even throughout the interviews it was clear that the participants were passionate about this problem and were excited about the idea to come together and do something about it. Each of them learned that others had also recognized this problem and had different ideas about how to overcome it. They were enthusiastic about hearing ideas and finding new ways to collaborate. It was also eye-opening to administration to find out some of the struggles teachers and guidance counselors have been experiencing. The learning process had already begun at the time of the interviews and focus session. The next step is to involve everyone else, not just the participants of this study. The extra problem that is posed by expanding into the general school community is that they are not as familiar with CSE so they will need to understand that aspect of it first. A good feature of the project is that it allows everyone, not just educators and students involved in CSE, to benefit from this professional development.

Project Development and Evaluation

The development and evaluation of the project came about after the interview process, which showed that teachers needed to know more about ways to get rid of gender bias in their classroom and curriculum. Guidance needs to communicate with teachers more so that they know what is going on in classrooms so they can tell students. Administration needs to oversee and support all that is going on. Lastly, all the educators need to become more knowledgeable about what the workforce looks like and what skills



are needed. The goal of any high school is to make its students college and career ready. It seemed to be clear that the project needed to be professional development for all educators. The goal is to increase the numbers of girls in CSE, so the only way to evaluate if the project is successful is to track the numbers from semester to semester.

The process of developing the project and evaluation was to create a professional development plan, which is similar to creating a lesson plan for a student project. Online resources were found and incorporated. Providing variations in instruction is important to keep the participants' interest so it includes filling out worksheets to reflect on their own practices, reading, discussing, providing statistics, watching videos, and leaving with something to do and think about. The other days of professional development include communication that proved to be a missing key element during the interviews. Like any other lesson plan, this professional development needs to be done once to see where the high and low points of the lessons are and then improve upon it for follow-up trainings.

Evaluation is important to any professional development because it is what determines what worked and what did not work during the training. Listening objectively to what participants and organizers have to say will drive the changes to make the next training more effective. Modifying the training allows for adjustments so that educators can get the most out of it and, in turn, students can benefit from it.

Leadership and Change

Leadership was evident in various places throughout this process. During the interviews, each of the educators was willing to become a leader in this endeavor. They were prepared to be part of a leadership team to create change. They also looked to me



for leadership because of the research I have done. Becoming more of a leader amongst my peers has become a directive in my goal setting plan. Change can come from anyone who has a passion about something. I have learned that I am lucky enough to work in a school where that is embraced, and I am fully supported.

Learned About Self

Scholar

Before I began research on the underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses, I knew this was an important topic to me. Although I am not a computer science or engineering teacher, I do teach technology courses. I also have two daughters, one of whom is interested in CSE. As I began research, I saw that it is a bigger problem than I realized. It is a global problem not only in schools but industry as well. This problem was frustrating to me, frustrating enough to want to do something to make a difference, even just locally. I have learned to focus that energy on this study.

Lifelong learning is something I believe in wholeheartedly. This process has been the most I have ever learned from any program I have taken. Not only have I learned the ins and outs of doing research and creating a study, but I have shown myself, and hopefully others, how dedicated I am to my own education and the education of others. I look forward to this study being my first step toward many studies and various small assists toward social change.

Practitioner

Constantly learning new things is nothing new for a teacher, especially a technology teacher. We must continuously update our skills and knowledge to keep



current with the students and technology. Since beginning this process, I have learned to look for the essential information that will truly help the students. Teachers are in this profession because they want to help and make a difference in the lives of students and the future. This process has taught me that we can make an even bigger difference with a little extra effort, some research, and a plan.

Using social networking in a scholarly way has given me information daily about the most recent findings in my field and my interests. I have learned more to share the information I find with others in my field. We have had great conversations, ideas, and camaraderie from these encounters. Keeping abreast of new research has made me a better teacher, colleague, and student.

Project Developer

Developing this project has made me hopeful that change is going to happen. It may start as small changes in our school and then become bigger and wider changes branching out into other schools. A project developer has a phenomenal task of choosing a problem, providing research and statistics, conducting a study, analyzing the data, creating a plan of action, and following through to see change happen. I have placed so much time and effort on this project being successful, that failure is not an option. I will work with the school and make changes as necessary to see this project succeed. In the past, I would not have gone to administration and proposed changes but after conducting this research, I am confident that this change can happen.



Reflection

I believe this project study was important in many ways. Like so many other periods throughout history, this particular topic is in a growing phase. Society as a whole needs to view women in CSE differently. This change must start in our schools so the culture change will start here. Teachers are on the front lines of this change. Teachers can learn best practices to increase the numbers of girls in CSE. These practices will hopefully translate into more girls in these courses. Not only does this project help these girls but it shows all other girls and boys in this school that it can be done. They will take this knowledge with them into the workforce and continue to create change, one person at a time. This study has shown that with communication, collaboration, and a willingness to improve, a community can come together and attempt to make a difference.

The study did show what educators' perspectives are on the underrepresentation of girls in CSE. Learning that teachers are so agreeable to do what they can to see change happen is very encouraging. This cooperation may not be true for all schools and all educators but if we can make a small change here, it may grow. The teachers, administrators, and guidance counselors that I have worked with have been very inspiring to me. I hope that students not only see and appreciate what these caring educators are trying to do but also benefit from it as well.

Future Research

As the job market continues to change, education must try to be a step ahead so that students will be ready. This progress is even more applicable when it comes to technology such as CSE. It is not fair to be only training half our students for these



skillful careers. Not only should schools teach skills such as these but they should also be training students as innovative and future thinkers, which requires educators to be innovative and futurists. Technology may not even be the most important aspect of CSE education. It may be understanding our biases and practicing equality.

The future of this project would include communication and collaboration to find ways to increase the number of girls in CSE courses and careers. If results of this project are unsuccessful, I hope the school continues to try to experiment with ideas until they see a change. I also hope this idea spreads to surrounding communities and grows. Each school may find that different strategies work for them. The path to get there may change, but the goal must be the same: increase the number of girls in CSE courses and change the attitudes and beliefs about women and CSE.

Future research could consist of comparing perspectives of educators from various communities. Are they different in affluent and poor areas? Are they different in large and small schools or towns and cities? Do they change in different countries? Because we know that the problem is widespread, it would be helpful to know how a wider view of educators would react. I believe that change is possible if the educators are willing to create change. However, if educators are not willing to cooperate, it would be much more difficult. Knowing educators' perspectives from all different scenarios would help researchers know what they have to work with and what they have to do. It may be a challenge, or it may be a pleasant surprise.



References

- Adegbesan, S. O. (2013). Effect of principals' leadership style on teachers' attitude to work in Ogun State Secondary Schools, Nigeria. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education, 14*(1), 14-28. Retrieved from ERIC database (EJ1006243)
- Agosto, D. E. (2007). Women and information technology: Research on underrepresentation. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science & Technology*, 58(11), 1704. doi:10.1002/asi.20622
- Akiba, M. (2012). Professional learning activities in Context: A statewide survey of middle school mathematics teachers. *Education Policy Analysis Archives, 20*(14).
 Retrieved from ERIC database (EJ971429)
- Alukonis, J. T., & Settar, S. (2008). Model program: West Springfield High School,
 Virginia. *Technology Teacher*, 67(6), 33-36. Retrieved from Academic Search
 Complete database (EJ789740)
- Alvarez-Alvarez, C., Fernandez-Diaz, E., & Osoro-Sierra, J. (2012). Educational transforming, learning communities and teacher training, *US-China Education Review*, *B*(5), 521-527. Retrieved from ERIC database (ED534302)
- Anderson, N., Lankshear, C., Timms, C., & Courtney, L. (2008). 'Because it's boring, irrelevant and I don't like computers': Why high school girls avoid professionally-oriented ICT subjects. *Computers & Education, 50*(4), 1304-1318. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2006.12.003



- Aud, S., Hussar, W., Kena, G., Bianco, K., Frohlich, L., Kemp, J., & Tahan, K. (2011).
 The Condition of Education 2011 (NCES 2011-033). U.S. Department of
 Education, National Center for Education Statistics. Washington, DC: U.S.
 Government Printing Office.
- Beneker, P. (2003). Programming and scripting languages. *Encyclopedia of Distributed Learning*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Bilimoria, D., Joy, S., & Liang, X. (2008). Breaking barriers and creating inclusiveness:
 Lessons of organizational transformation to advance women faculty in academic science and engineering. *Human Resource Management*, 47(3), 423-441.
 doi:10.1002/hrm.20225
- Blank, R. K. (2013). What research tells us: Common characteristics of professional learning that leads to student achievement. *Journal of Staff Development, 34*(1), 50-53. Retrieved from Education Research Complete database (EJ1005457)
- Brown, D. R., Brewster, C. D., Karides, M., & Lukas, L. A. (2011). The phenomenon of collaboration: A phenomenologic study of collaboration between family medicine and obstetrics and gynecology departments at an academic medical center. *Qualitative Report, 16*(3), 657-681. Retrieved from ERIC database (EJ926317)
- Buzzanell, P., & Lucas, K. (2006). Gendered stories of career: Unfolding discourses of time, space, and identity. *The SAGE Handbook of Gender and Communication*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Buzzetto-More, N., Ukoha, O., & Rustagi, N. (2010). Unlocking the barriers to women and minorities in computer science and information systems studies: Results from



a multi-methodolical study conducted at two minority serving institutions. *Journal of Information Technology Education*, *9*, 115-131. Retrieved from Education Research Complete database (EJ895873)

- Bybee, R. W. (2010). Advancing STEM education: A 2020 vision. *Technology & Engineering Teacher*, 70(1), 30-35. Retrieved from Academic Search Complete database (EJ898909)
- Carbonaro, M., Szafron, D., Cutumisu, M., & Schaeffer, J. (2010). Computer-game construction: A gender-neutral attractor to computing science. *Computers & Education*, 55(3), 1098-1111. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2010.05.007

Celebrating the first lady of IT. (2009). Computer Weekly, 3.

- Cheryan, S., & Plaut, V. (2010). Explaining underrepresentation: A theory of precluded interest. *Sex Roles*, *63*(7/8), 475-488. doi:10.1007/s11199-010-9835-x
- Chinedum, U., Onwuasoanya, P., & Eze, J. (2012). Perceived impact of guidance and counseling services on the development of entrepreneurial skills for sustainable livelihood among students. US-China Education Review, B(12), 1044-1051.
 Retrieved from ERIC database (ED539796)
- Coder, L., Rosenbloom, J. L., Ash, R. A., & Dupont, B. R. (2009). Economic and business dimensions: Increasing gender diversity in the IT work force. *Communications of the ACM*, 52(5), 25-27. doi:10.1145/1506409.1506417

Cozza, M. (2011). Bridging gender gaps, networking in computer science. *Gender, Technology and Development*, 15(2), 319-337.

doi:10.1177/097185241101500207



- Crocco, M. S., Cramer, J., & Meier, E. B. (2008). (Never) mind the gap!: Gender equity in social studies research on technology in the twenty-first century. *Multicultural Education & Technology Journal*, 2(1), 19-36. doi:10.1108/17504970810867133
- Daugherty, J. L., & Custer, R. L. (2012). Secondary level engineering professional development: Content, pedagogy, and challenges. *International Journal of Technology and Design Education*, 22(1), 51-64. doi:10.1007/s10798-010-9136-2
- Dee, T. (2006). The why chromosome: How a teacher's gender affects boys and girls. *Education Next*, 6(4), 68-75. Retrieved from ERIC database (EJ763353)
- Denner, J., & Werner, L. (2007). Computer programming in middle school: How pairs respond to challenges. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 37(2), 131-150. doi:10.2190/12T6-41L2-6765-G3T2
- Desjarlais, M., & Willoughby, T. (2010). A longitudinal study of the relation between adolescent boys' and girls' computer use with friends and friendship quality:
 Support for the social compensation or the rich-get-richer hypothesis?. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *26*(5), 896-905. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2010.02.004
- Dlodlo, N., & Beyers, R. (2009). The experiences of girls in a fabrication engineering environment. *Gender, Technology and Development*, *13*(1), 127-135.
 doi:10.1177/097185240901300106
- Ediger, M. (1991a). *Role of the Guidance Counselor*. Retrieved from ERIC database (ED328857)



- Ediger, M. (1991b). *The Counseling & Guidance Curriculum*. Retrieved from ERIC database (ED332074)
- Else-Quest, N. M., Hyde, J., & Linn, M. C. (2010). Cross-national patterns of gender differences in mathematics: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 136(1), 103-127. doi:10.1037/a0018053
- Eson-Brizo, J. (2010). Analysis of a mentoring program to change attitudes related to turnover of special needs teachers (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ERIC database. (ED508645)
- Featherly, K. (2002). Flash. *Encyclopedia of New Media*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Foundation Center (2014). Tools and Resources for Assessing Social Impact (TRASI). http://trasi.foundationcenter.org
- Goel, S., & Kathuria, V. (2010). A novel approach for collaborative pair programming.
 Journal of Information Technology Education, 9, 183-196. Retrieved from
 Education Research Complete database (EJ895877)
- Gorman, S. T., Durmowicz, M. C., Roskes, E. M., & Slattery, S. P. (2010). Women in the academy: Female leadership in STEM education and the evolution of a mentoring web. *Forum on Public Policy Online, 2010*(2). Retrieved from ERIC database (EJ903573)
- Graham, M. W. (2011). Grace Hopper and the invention of the information age. *Business History Review*, 85(1), 209-211. doi:10.1017/S0007680511000225



- Halpern, D., Aronson, J., Reimer, N., Simpkins, S., Star, J., & Wentzel, K. (2007). *Encouraging Girls in Math and Science* (NCER 2007-2003). Washington, DC:
 National Center for Education Research, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S.
 Department of Education. Retrieved from http://ncer.ed.gov
- Han, K., Lee, E., & Lee, Y. (2010). The impact of a peer-learning agent based on pair programming in a programming course. *IEEE Transactions on Education*, 53(2), 318-327. doi:10.1109/TE.2009.2019121
- Hancock, D. R., & Algozzine, B. (2006). Doing case study research: A practical guide for beginning researchers. New York, NY: Teachers College Press. ISBN: 0-8077-4707-6.
- Jausovec, N., & Jausovec, K. (2008). Spatial rotation and recognizing emotions: Gender related differences in brain activity. *Intelligence*, 36(5), 383-393. doi:10.1016/j.intell.2007.09.002
- Johnson, J., Rochkind, J., & Ott, A. (2010). Why guidance counseling needs to change. *Educational Leadership*, 67(7), 74-79. Retrieved from Academic Search Complete database (EJ896443)
- King, S. B. (2012). Increasing college-going rate, parent involvement, and community participation in rural communities. *Rural Educator*, 33(2), 20-26. Retrieved from Education Research Complete database (EJ987617)
- Klawe, M., Whitney, T., & Simard, C. (2009). Women in computing-take 2. *Communications of the ACM*, *52*(2), 68-76. doi:10.1145/1461928.1461947



- Kulturel-Konak, S., D'Allegro, M., & Dickinson, S. (2011). Review of gender differences in learning styles: Suggestions for STEM education. *Contemporary Issues in Education Research*, 4(3), 9-18. http://journals.cluteonline.com
- Lau, W., & Yuen, A. (2010). Gender differences in learning styles: Nurturing a gender and style sensitive computer science classroom. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 26(7), 1090-1103. Retrieved from Education Research Complete database (EJ915919)
- Lawanto, O., Santoso, H. B., & Liu, Y. (2012). Understanding of the relationship between interest and expectancy for success in engineering design activity in Grades 9-12. *Educational Technology & Society, 15*(1), 152-161. Retrieved from Academic Search Complete database (EJ979462)
- Learning Forward (2014). National Staff Development Council. http://learningforward.org/standards
- Lee, M. H. (2010). 7 Principles of highly collaborative PD. *Science & Children*, 47(9), 28-31. Retrieved from Education Research Complete database (EJ898381)
- Lodico, M., Spaulding, D., & Voegtle, K. (2010). Methods in educational research. San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.
- Mahon, J., & Packman, J. (2011). Focused career choices: How teacher educators can assist students with purposeful career decision-making throughout a teacher education program. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 38(2), 131-146. Retrieved from Education Research Complete database (EJ926864)



Manning, S., Massini, S., & Lewin, A. Y. (2008). A dynamic perspective on nextgeneration offshoring: The global sourcing of science and engineering talent. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 22(3), 35-54. doi:10.5465/AMP.2008.34587994

Marra, R. M., Arbaugh, F., Lannin, J., Abell, S., Ehlert, M., Smith, R., & ... Rogers, M. (2011). Orientations to professional development design and implementation: Understanding their relationship to PD outcomes across multiple projects. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 9(4), 793-816. doi:10.1007/s10763-010-9223-6

Massachusetts Department of Education, 2004. Nontraditional by gender—career and technical education program study.

http://www.doe.mass.edu/cte/ntbg/studpart_analysis.pdf

- McCormack, M. (1998). What sex is the internet?. *Futures (London)*, *30*(9), 923. http://www.journals.elsevier.com
- McKellar, D (2007). *Math Doesn't Suck: How to survive middle school math without losing your mind or breaking a nail.* New York, NY: Plume Printing.
- McKinney, V. R., Wilson, D. D., Brooks, N., O'Leary-Kelly, A., & Hardgrave, B.
 (2008). Women and men in the IT profession. *Communications of the ACM*, 51(2), 81-84. doi:10.1145/1314215.1314229
- Meelissen, M. M., & Drent, M. (2008). Gender differences in computer attitudes: Does the school matter?. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 24(3), 969-985. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2007.03.001



- Merriam, S. (2009). *Qualitative Research: A guide to design and implementation*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Miliszewska, I., & Sztendur, E. M. (2010). Interest in ICT studies and careers:
 Perspectives of secondary school female students from low socioeconomic backgrounds. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Information, Knowledge & Management*, *5*, 237-260. Retrieved from Computers & Applied Sciences Complete database (58079832)
- Milo, P. (2010). Girls and engineering. *EE: Evaluation Engineering*, *49*(1), 6. Retrieved from Academic Search Complete database (47571999)
- Murphrey, T., Miller, K. A., Harlin, J., & Rayfield, J. (2011). Collaboration as a tool to improve career and technical education: A qualitative study of successful collaboration among extension agents and agricultural science teachers. *Journal of Career and Technical Education, 26*(2), 57-67. Retrieved from ERIC database (EJ974464)
- National Institutes of Health (2011). U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. http://www.jobs.nih.gov/positions
- New Hampshire Department of Education (2006). Performance report on career and technical education in New Hampshire.

http://www.education.nh.gov/career/career/documents/perkins_perf_rpt06.pdf

O'Meara, K., & Terosky, A. (2010). Engendering faculty professional growth. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 42(6), 44-51. doi:10.1080/00091383.2010.523408



O'Shea, M., Heilbronner, N. N., & Reis, S. M. (2010). Characteristics of academically talented women who achieve at high levels on the scholastic achievement testmathematics. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, *21*(2), 234-271. doi:10.1177/1932202X1002100204

Papastergiou, M. (2008). Are computer science and information technology still masculine fields? High school students' perceptions and career choices.
 Computers & Education, 51(2), 594-608. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2007.06.009

- Patti, J., Holzer, A. A., Stern, R., & Brackett, M. A. (2012). Personal, professional coaching: Transforming professional development for teacher and administrative leaders. *Journal of Leadership Education*, *11*(1), 263-274.
 doi:10.12806/V11/II/AB4
- Pawlina, S., & Stanford, C. (2011). Preschoolers grow their brains: Shifting mindsets for greater resiliency and better problem solving. *Young Children, 66*(5), 30-35.
 Retrieved from Education Research Complete database (EJ959741)
- Petrie, K., & McGee, C. (2012). Teacher professional development: Who is the learner?. Australian Journal of Teacher Education, 37(2), 59-72. doi:10.14221/ajte.2012v37n2.7

Pianta, R. C., & Center for American, P. (2011). Teaching children well: New evidencebased approaches to teacher professional development and training. *Center for American Progress*. Retrieved from ERIC database (ED535637)

President's Council of Advisors on Science and Technology. (2010, September). Prepare and Inspire: K-12 education in science, technology, engineering, and



math (STEM) for America's future. Retrieved September 22, 2011 from http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/microsites/ostp/pcast-stemed-report.pdf

- Reis, S. M., & Graham, C. (2005). Needed: Teachers to encourage girls in math, science, and technology. *Gifted Child Today*, 28(3), 14-21. Retrieved from Education
 Research Complete database (EJ694016)
- Report to the Governor. (2013). The gender wage gap in Connecticut: Findings and recommendations.

http://www.governor.ct.gov/malloy/lib/malloy/2013.11.19_gender_wage_gap_in_ ct.pdf

- Rex, J., & Chadwell, D. (2009). Single-gender classrooms. *School Administrator*, 66(8),
 28-33. Retrieved from Education Research Complete database (EJ853862)
- Rieckhoff, B., & Larsen, C. (2012). The impact of a professional development network on leadership development and school improvement goals. *School-University Partnerships, 5*(1), 57-73. Retrieved from ERIC database (EJ974369)
- Riveros, A. (2012). Beyond collaboration: Embodied teacher learning and the discourse of collaboration in education reform. *Studies in Philosophy and Education, 31*(6), 603-612. doi:10.1007/s11217-012-9323-6
- Shanahan, B. (2006). The secrets to increasing females in technology. *Technology Teacher*, 66(2), 22-24. Retrieved from Education Research Complete database (EJ747938)
- Skouteris, H., Watson, B., & Lum, J. (2012). Preschool children's transition to formal schooling: The importance of collaboration between teachers, parents and



children. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood, 37*(4), 78-85. Retrieved from Academic Search Complete database (EJ1001952)

Spellings, M. (2006). https://www.girlscouts.org/news/news_releases/2006/doe.asp

- Throndsen, I. & Turmo, A. (2012). Gender differences in teachers' beliefs and primary school children's achievement in mathematics. *Problems of Education in the 21St Century*, 39, 159-170. Retrieved from Education Research Complete database (74294224)
- Tsai, M., & Tsai, C. (2010). Junior high school students' internet usage and self-efficacy:
 A re-examination of the gender gap. *Computers & Education*, 54(4), 1182-1192.
 doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2009.11.004
- Varela, A. M. (2012). Three major sins of professional development: How can we make it better?. *Education Digest: Essential Readings Condensed For Quick Review*, 78(4), 17-20. Retrieved from Academic Search Complete database (EJ1003256)
- Varma, R. (2010). Why so few women enroll in computing? Gender and ethnic differences in students' perception. *Computer Science Education*, 20(4), 301-316. doi:10.1080/08993408.2010.527697
- Varma, R. R., & Hahn, H. H. (2008). Gender and the pipeline metaphor in computing. *European Journal of Engineering Education*, 33(1), 3-11. doi:10.1080/03043790701745936
- Vekiri, I. (2010). Boys' and girls' ICT beliefs: Do teachers matter?. *Computers & Education*, 55(1), 16-23. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2009.11.013



- Vermont Department of Education. (2011). A guide for increasing the effectiveness of professional development in schools and districts. Vermont Department of Education. http://education.vermont.gov
- Werner, L., & Denner, J. (2009). Pair programming in middle school: What does it look like? *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 42(1), 29-49. Retrieved from Business Source Complete database (EJ856931)
- Woodford, C. (2002). Computer graphics. *Encyclopedia of New Media*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Zaman, A. (2008). Gender sensitive teaching: A reflective approach for early childhood education teacher training programs. *Education*, 129(1), 110-118. Retrieved from Academic Search Complete database (EJ816977)



Appendix A: Project

The project consists of three professional development modules. These modules will all be completed during professional development days throughout the year. The school usually has about three professional development days per year. The first will be completed during the first professional development day of the year, which is typically the first or second day back to school before students begin school in August or September. When this first module is finished the participants have a week to carry out a self-observation. They must then conclude with a post self-assessment, which will be due back no later than two weeks after module one. Module two will be conducted during the second professional development day of the school year, which may happen in about January. The evaluation will be complete before they leave for the day. The last module will be organized during the next professional development day, which would be around April. Again the evaluation will be done at the end of the day. Having this project start at the beginning of the year will give ideas to educators right from the start. Continuing throughout the year will reinforce the importance of it and remind everyone involved that it is a continuing goal.



Professional Development Module 1 - Awareness

Goals:

- To raise awareness of gender bias
- To become cognizant of attitudes and terminology used

Participants: all educators in building

Activities:

- Self-Assess
 - Complete the Attitudes about Teaching Scale (ATS) Boys handout (Zaman, 2008)
 - Complete the Attitudes about Teaching Scale (ATS) Girls handout (Zaman, 2008)
- Gender bias
 - Read the following article about gender bias in teaching: <u>http://www.education.com/reference/article/gender-bias-in-teaching/#A</u>
 - Read the following article about gender bias in education: http://www.edchange.org/multicultural/papers/genderbias.html
 - Get into groups of 4 or 5 and turn and talk about the articles. They can discuss if they have seen or experienced gender bias in class including teacher unconscious gender bias or in books or curriculum.
- Gender gap
 - Watch this video on closing the gender gap in science and engineering <u>http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gP-tkOmQqd4</u>
 - Give statistics on the number of girls and boys in higher level math and science classes
 - o Give statistics on the number of girls and boys in CSE classes
 - Refer to references in this study and anonymous participants' thoughts from the interviews and focus group to show possibilities about why these numbers are what they are.
 - Brainstorm ideas in small groups about how we can change those numbers. Each group will write their ideas on posters.
 - Have each group share their ideas with the larger group.
 - Each group will hang their poster and everyone will do a gallery walk through to read each poster and allow for these ideas to be compiled for future use.
- Self-Observe



- Do the Reflective Based Observation (Zaman, 2008) handout over the next week
- Complete the following gender sensitive evaluation of the next week <u>http://www.unifr.ch/didactic/assets/files/didactic/Eval_course_gender_en.</u> <u>pdf</u>
- Self-Assessment
 - Participants will be asked to individually and privately compare their original self-assessment from before any training to this self-assessment. Have their thoughts and ideas changed?


Professional Development Module 2 - Communication with Community

Goals:

- To educate about what CSE is
- To inform about careers, what they involve, and what knowledge they require

Participants: all educators and students in building

Activities:

- Career Day
 - Have a career day that is not just for students but allows all educators to attend as well. Various community members, of both sexes, and from all types of careers will come in and talk about what they do and what courses were important in getting there.
- Engineering
 - Watch this video on engineering courses, jobs, salaries, etc. <u>http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zD_zWHu1msY</u>
 - Explore the following website with the various types of engineering careers and which courses are necessary to becoming each of the engineering specialties <u>http://www.typesofengineering.com/</u>
 - Educators will turn and talk with their colleagues about what they just learned about engineering. They will also discuss courses or topics they cover in their own classes that would help students interested in this area.
- Computer Science
 - Watch this video on computer science jobs and the demand for them <u>http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=yUTgCACDuUA</u>
 - Read the following article regarding computer science education requirements <u>http://www.educationrequirements.org/computer-</u><u>science.html</u>
 - Educators will turn and talk with their colleagues about what they just learned about computer science. They will also discuss courses or topics they cover in their own classes that would help students interested in this area.
- Complete reflection form
- Job Shadow
 - Now that educators have met members of the community, they can schedule a job shadow with at least one of their choice. They will need to spend at least two hours there to learn first-hand about what goes on in these companies.



• Each job shadow participant will need to write a reflection about how they can incorporate what they have seen and learned into their courses and curriculum.



Professional Development Module 3 - Communication within Building

Goals:

- To educate about what CSE is
- To experience what goes on inside classrooms in the building

Participants: all educators in building

Activities:

- Dedicate a professional development day to allow administration and guidance counselors to come into each classroom for a demonstration and overview of what each course involves. Each teacher will also provide a syllabus, examples of major projects, and the final exam for each course that they teach.
- Have question and answer sessions to clear up any misconceptions
- Online Poll
 - Have all female educators take an online poll to see which department/courses they would enjoy taking after experiencing all courses today.
 - Have all male educators take an online poll to see which department/courses they would enjoy taking after experiencing all courses today.
 - Compare polls of boys and girls to see if there are trends among educators about course preferences (math, science, computer science, engineering, etc.)
- Complete reflection form
- Wiki
 - Based on the above training, each teacher will contribute to a wiki site regarding how they can incorporate CSE skills into their courses. These contributions can be actual lessons or just relating topics/skills learned to careers.
 - After wiki site is done, data will be compiled by guidance counselors and administrators and follow up with teachers to see that these ideas are followed through.
 - The wiki can also be available for K-8 teachers as well so they can see what the end goal is by grade 12. They may be able to get ideas so that each of them may be able to touch on these topics with younger students.



Attitudes about Teaching Scale (ATS) - Boys

Directions: In the previous scale, there are 10 statements about teaching children. There are no right or wrong answers to these statements. Please indicate how much you agree or disagree with each statement by placing a check (\square) mark under the appropriate response. While some of the statements may seem repetitious, take your time, and try to be as honest as possible.

- A Statements
- B Strongly Agree
- C Agree
- D Not Sure
- E Disagree
- F Strongly Disagree

А	В	С	D	Е	F
I believe boys are uncontrollable in the classroom					
I believe boys are too aggressive during play, when					
compared to girls					
I believe boys are suspended from school more than					
girls					
It is more challenging to teach boys					
I look forward to teaching boys					
Teachers should have the same classroom activities					
for boys and girls					
Boys have less concentration when learning					
compared to girls					
Boys need more attention during classroom activities					
than girls					
If boys engage in more physical activities during					
play, they will concentrate better during academic					
activities					
Boys are easily distracted while working in groups					



Attitudes about Teaching Scale (ATS) - Girls

Directions: In the previous scale, there are 10 statements about teaching children. There are no right or wrong answers to these statements. Please indicate how much you agree or disagree with each statement by placing a check (\square) mark under the appropriate response. While some of the statements may seem repetitious, take your time, and try to be as honest as possible.

- A Statements
- B Strongly Agree
- C Agree
- D Not Sure
- E Disagree
- F Strongly Disagree

A	В	С	D	Е	F
I believe girls are easy to control, while in the					
classroom					
I prefer to teach girls rather than boys					
I believe girls follow directions easier than boys					
I believe girls are more interested in classroom					
learning rather than boys					
Teachers should have the same classroom activities					
for boys and girls					
I look forward to teaching girls					
Girls need more attention during classroom activities					
than boys					
Girls work well in group learning activities					
Girls need more nurturing attention than boys					
It is more challenging to teach girls					



Reflective Based Observation

- A Subject
- B Duration
- C Context: When and where to observe
- $D-\ensuremath{\mathsf{What}}$ to observe

А	В	С	D
Boy	3-5 minutes	Choice time, open	What the boy does and how he
		activity	interacts
			How the teacher reacts
Girl	3-5 minutes	Same as above	What the girl does and how she
			interacts
			How the teacher reacts
Boy	3-5 minutes	Meeting time, seat	What the boy does and how he
		work, teacher directed	interacts
		group activity time	How the teacher reacts
Girl	3-5 minutes	Same as above	What the girl does and how she
			interacts
			How the teacher reacts
Boy	5-7 minutes	When freely can	Note the activity and how the
		choose peer-partner	boy initiates it, nature of his
			interaction (positive, negative,
			neutral). Note the peers who
			initiate interactions with him;
			whether he responds and if so,
			the nature of the response
			(positive, negative, neutral).
			How the teacher reacts to the
			boy's behavior/interaction with
			peers.
Girl	5-7 minutes	Same as above	Note the activity and how the
			girl initiates it, nature of her
			interaction (positive, negative,
			neutral). Note the peers who
			initiate interactions with her;
			whether she responds and if so,
			the nature of the response
			(positive, negative, neutral).
			How the teacher reacts to the
			girl's behavior/interaction with
			peers.



Self-Assessment – Module 1

Directions: There are no right or wrong answers to these statements. Please indicate how much you agree or disagree with each statement by placing a check (\square) mark under the appropriate response. While some of the statements may seem repetitious, take your time, and try to be as honest as possible.

- A-Statements
- B Strongly Agree
- C Agree
- D-Not Sure
- E Disagree
- F Strongly Disagree

A	В	С	D	Е	F
Boys and girls are similarly controllable in the					
classroom					
I prefer to teach girls and boys equally					
Boys and girls are capable of following the same					
directions					
Girls and boys are both interested in classroom					
learning					
Teachers should have the same classroom activities					
for boys and girls					
Girls and boys need the same amount of attention					
during classroom activities					
Boys and girls work well in group learning activities					
Girls and boys need the same amount of nurturing					
During my self-observation:					
When given choice time during an open activity,					
boys and girls interacted differently					
When given choice time during an open activity, I					
reacted differently to boys and girls					
During meeting time, seat work, or teacher directed					
group activity time, boys and girls interacted					
differently					
During meeting time, seat work, or teacher directed					
group activity time, I reacted differently to boys and					
girls					
When freely choose peer-partners, girls and boys					
interacted differently					
When freely choose peer-partners, I reacted					



differently to girls and boys			
I believe my reactions can alter interactions with			
students			
Comments:			



Reflection/Evaluation – Modules 2 and 3

Administrators and Guidance Counselors only please answer questions 1 and 2:

1. Please circle what type of educator you are currently:

Administrator Guidance Counselor

2. Will today's session help you do your job better? (circle one)

	Definitely	Probably	Maybe	Not likely	Not at all
--	------------	----------	-------	------------	------------

Teachers only please answer question 3:

3. Will today's session bring more students into your classes? (circle one)

Definitely	Probably	Maybe	Not likely	Not at all

All educators please answer the following:

4. Will today's session help students? (circle one)

Definitely	Probably	Maybe	Not likely	Not at all
------------	----------	-------	------------	------------

- 5. Name an "aha" moment that you had today.
- 6. Something I need to start doing is ...
- 7. One question I have is ...
- 8. More training in the following area(s) would be helpful:



Appendix B: Invitation Letter

Dear _____,

My name is Wendy Bibeau and I am a doctoral candidate at Walden University. I am conducting a doctoral study as part of the requirements of my EdD degree and I would like to invite you to participate.

I am studying educators' perspectives on female students' enrollment in CSE. If you decide to participate, you will be asked to meet with me for an interview regarding this topic. The interview will take place before or after school at a mutually agreed upon time and place and should last about 30 minutes. The interview will be audio taped so that I can accurately reflect on what is discussed. The tapes will only be reviewed by me. Following all interviews, a focus group will also be scheduled for all able to participate in that as well.

Participation is confidential and data collected will be kept secure. Taking part in the study is voluntary. You may decline to participate or withdraw from the study at any time without any repercussions.

Thank you for your consideration. I will be happy to answer any questions you may have about the study. If you would like to participate, please see me or respond to this e-mail when would be the best time for us to meet.

Thank you,

Wendy Bibeau Wendy.bibeau@waldenu.edu



Appendix C: Informed Consent Form

You are invited to take part in a research study of Educators' Perspectives on Female Students' Enrollment in Computer Science and Engineering (CSE). The researcher is inviting educators who are, in some way, involved with students and CSE courses to be in the study. This form is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study before deciding whether to take part.

This study is being conducted by a researcher named Wendy Bibeau, who is a doctoral student at Walden University. You may already know the researcher as a teacher, but this study is separate from that role.

Background Information:

The purpose of this study is to gather information on the underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses and how teachers, administrators, and guidance counselors feel about this.

Procedures:

If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to:

- Participate in an interview
- Participate in a focus group

Here are some sample questions:

- Do you believe there is an underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses here at this school?
- Do you think there is anything that can be done to increase the number of girls in CSE courses?
- Do you think there is anything that you personally can do to increase the number of girls in CSE courses?

Voluntary Nature of the Study:

This study is voluntary. Everyone will respect your decision of whether or not you choose to be in the study. No one will treat you differently if you decide not to be in the study. If you decide to join the study now, you can still change your mind later. You may stop at any time.

Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:

Being in this type of study involves some risk of the minor discomforts that can be encountered in daily life, such as being uncomfortable answering questions regarding



your thoughts on this matter. Being in this study would not pose risk to your safety or wellbeing.

This study's potential benefits include changes made in this school and others that encourage girls to participate in CSE courses, which then translates into more women in CSE careers.

Payment:

There will be no payment for participating in this study.

Privacy:

Any information you provide will be kept confidential. The researcher will not use your personal information for any purposes outside of this research project. Also, the researcher will not include your name or anything else that could identify you in the study reports. Data will be kept secure by keeping it in a locked cabinet. Data will be kept for a period of at least 5 years, as required by the university.

Contacts and Questions:

You may ask any questions you have now. Or if you have questions later, you may contact the researcher via <u>wendy.bibeau@waldenu.edu</u>. If you want to talk privately about your rights as a participant, you can call Dr. Leilani Endicott. She is the Walden University representative who can discuss this with you. Her phone number is 612-312-1210. Walden University's approval number for this study is 04-17-13-0166707 and it expires on April 16, 2014.

The researcher will give you a copy of this form to keep.

Statement of Consent:

I have read the above information and I feel I understand the study well enough to make a decision about my involvement. By signing below, I understand that I am agreeing to the terms described above.

Printed Name of Participant

Date of consent

Participant's Signature

Researcher's Signature



Appendix D: Interview Protocol Form

Interview Protocol

I will be audio taping our conversation today. I will be the only one privy to the tapes, which will be eventually destroyed after they are transcribed. You must sign the Informed Consent Form, which states that all information will be held confidential and your participation is voluntary and you may stop at any time, for any reason. Thank you for your agreeing to participate.

I have planned this interview to last about 30 minutes. During this time, I have several questions that I would like to cover.

Introduction

You have been selected to participate in this study because you have been identified as someone who deals directly with students in computer science and engineering (CSE) courses or has an influence on these courses. My research project as a whole focuses on the underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses and how teachers, administrators, and guidance counselors feel about this. This study is not judging anyone's performance but rather trying to learn more about how educators feel about the underrepresentation of girls in CSE.

Interviewee Background

- Are you male or female?
- Are you currently a teacher, administrator, or guidance counselor?
- How long have you been at this school?
- Have you thought about the underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses before being approached for this study?
- Do you believe there is an underrepresentation of girls CSE courses here at this school?
 - Why or why not?
- Do you believe there is a shortage of women in CSE careers?
 - Why or why not?
- Describe any strategy in place right now or in the past to create interest in CSE courses?



- o Does/did this strategy specifically try to increase girls' interest?
- Do you think there is anything that can be done to increase the number of girls in CSE courses?
 - If so, what are those changes?
 - Who would be directly responsible for this change?
 - o If not, why not?
- Do you think there is anything that you personally can do to increase the number of girls in CSE courses?
 - If so, what specifically would those changes look like?
 - o If not, why not?
- What types of changes could be made at the teacher level to increase female interest in CSE courses?
 - What types of barriers would this have?
 - What types of benefits would this have?
- What types of changes could be made at the guidance counselor level to increase female interest in CSE courses?
 - What types of barriers would this have?
 - What types of benefits would this have?
- What types of changes could be made at the administration level to increase female interest in CSE courses?
 - What types of barriers would this have?
 - What types of benefits would this have?
- Is there anything else you would like comment on this topic before we end the interview?



Appendix E: Focus Group Protocol Form

Focus Group Protocol

I will be audio taping our conversation today. I will be the only one privy to the tapes, which will be eventually destroyed after they are transcribed. You have already signed the Informed Consent Form, which states that all information will be held confidential, your participation is voluntary and you may stop at any time, for any reason. Thank you for agreeing to participate.

I have planned this focus group session to last about 1 hour. During this time, I have several questions that I would like to cover.

Introduction

This is a follow up to the interview you have all had individually. We are now coming together as a group to discuss what your thoughts are now that you have had some time to think about your interview. All of you were selected to participate in this study because you deal directly with students in computer science and engineering (CSE) courses or you have an influence on these courses. Teachers deal directly with students regarding course selection, and administration takes the lead and makes final decisions with schoolwide curriculum. My research project focuses on the underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses and how teachers, administrators, and guidance counselors feel about this.

Focus Group Questions to Start Discussion

- Have you thought more about the underrepresentation of girls in CSE courses since your interview?
 - If so, have you changed your mind regarding your initial thoughts?
 - Why or why not?
- Have you done any research on this after your interview?
 - If so, what were your findings?
- As a group, let's brainstorm ideas about what can be done to increase the number of girls in CSE courses.
 - Who would be responsible to start these changes?
 - How much would these changes benefit the girls in our school?
 - How willing are you personally to implement these changes?
- Is there anything else you would like talk about before we end the focus group session?



Appendix F: Permissions

	Weeds Bibeen ends bibeen On Identicate	hand of damages a start		
	wendy bibeau <wendy.bibeau@waldenu.edu></wendy.bibeau@waldenu.edu>	Jun 1 (4 days ago) 🖂		1
	to tvolpe •			
	Mr. Volpe,			
	I am working on my dissertation from Walden University. I am requesting permission to use the "attitude scales" that are included in an article written by I am inquiring about is from Dr. Ahmed Zaman in 2008. The article states that he was an associate professor at your school but he is not currently listed information about the article: Zaman, A. (2008). Gender Sensitive Teaching: A Reflective Approach for Early Childhood Education Teacher Training Programs. Education, 129(1), 110-1	someone at your school. Ti in the directory. The followin 18.	ne arti Ig is tl	cle ne
	Any information you could give me so that I may obtain this permission would be greatly appreciated			
	Any minimation you could give me so that i may obtain this permission would be greatly appreciated.			
	Thank you, Wendy Bibeau			
	Thomas Volpe	Jun 2 (3 days ago) ☆	+	
	to me 🕞			
	Cond Manzing Winste			
	uooo morning wenay. I'll make some inquiries and get back to you. I don't know the professor, but I'm sure someone does! Tom			
	From: Wendy Bibeau (<u>wendy.bibeau@waldenu.edu</u>)			
	Sent: Sunday, June 01, 2014 1:47 PM			
	To: Thomas Volpe			
	Subject: Use of publication			
	Wendy Bibeau <wendy bibeau@waldenu="" edu=""></wendy>	Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩	*	
	to Thomas 🔹			
	Thank you so much for all of your help!			
rr	mission D mbox x		E	1 4
rr	nission Difference Second Seco	Jun 3 (2 davs ago) 🕁	E	1 4
rr	mission intex × Ahmed Zaman <a_zaman_99@yahoo.com> to me_iwalters in</a_zaman_99@yahoo.com>	Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩	<u>-</u>	1 -
ərr	mission intervention interventi	Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩	<u>-</u>	1 -
err	mission mix x Ahmed Zaman <a_zaman_99@yahoo.com> to me, jwalters • Hello Wendy Loublish mw work using Ahmed Zaman. You can use the instrument.</a_zaman_99@yahoo.com>	Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩	E +	1 (
rr	mission mis	Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩	<u>-</u>	1 (
rr	mission Mis	Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩	<u>-</u>	1
rr	hission hissi	Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩 Jun 3 (2 days ago) 🛓	•	1
rr	mission move the second seco	Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩 Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩	E *	1 (
rr	mission mission mov to me, jvalters Ahmed Zaman, 99@yahoo.com> to me, jvalters Ahmed Zaman, You can use the instrument. Dr. Zaman Sent flom mmy iPad Ahmed Zaman <a_zaman_99@yahoo.com> to me to me to m</a_zaman_99@yahoo.com>	Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩 Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩	E & 4	
rr	mission ■ mox × Ahmed Zaman <a_zaman_99@yahoo.com> to me, yvallers Hello Wendy publish my work using Ahmed Zaman. You can use the instrument. Dr. Zaman Sent from my iPad Ahmed Zaman <a_zaman_99@yahoo.com> to me I am listed as M. Ahmeduzzaman. Out for a mu End</a_zaman_99@yahoo.com></a_zaman_99@yahoo.com>	Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩 Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩	÷	1
r	mission mission model model model model model model model model model model model model	Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩 Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩	1 1 1	
rr	mission mission mov mov mov mov mov mov mov m	Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩 Jun 3 (2 days ago) 🛓	*	
rr	mission mi	Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩 Jun 3 (2 days ago) 🚖 Jun 3 (2 days ago) 😭	* *	
rr		Jun 3 (2 days ago) ☆ Jun 3 (2 days ago) ☆	+ +	
rr	Ahmed Zaman <a_zaman_99@yahoo.com> to me_jwalters Hello Wendy Jpublish my work using Ahmed Zaman. You can use the instrument. Dr. Zaman Sent from my iPad Ahmed Zaman <a_zaman_99@yahoo.com> to me I am listed as M. Ahmeduzzaman. Sent from my iPad Wondy Bibeau <wendy.bibeau@waldenu.edu> to Ahmed 💌</wendy.bibeau@waldenu.edu></a_zaman_99@yahoo.com></a_zaman_99@yahoo.com>	Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩 Jun 3 (2 days ago) 🛓 Jun 3 (2 days ago) 📩	* *	



Wendy Bibeau <wendy.bibeau@waldenu.edu> to bernadette.cha</wendy.bibeau@waldenu.edu>	Feb 26 📩 🔦
Prof. Charlier, I am a doctoral student from Walden University in the USA working on a study regarding gender enrollment in cor for evaluating teaching" for a self evaluation tool in my doctoral project study. <u>http://www.unifr.ch/didactic/asset</u> Please let me know if I can use the above link and have educators take the survey to evaluate themselves after so Thank you so much for your time. Please let me know if you have any questions.	nputer science and engineering. I am interested in using your "set of criteria s <u>files/didactic/Eval_course_gender_en.pdf</u> me gender sensitivity training.
You requested read receipts for this message.	
CHARLIER Bernadette <bernadette.charlier@unifr.ch></bernadette.charlier@unifr.ch>	Feb 28 👉 🔸
to me 💌	
Dear Wendy,	
You can certainly use the tool.	
Best wishes for your research	
best manes for your research	



Curriculum Vitae

WENDY G. BIBEAU

	Certified Experienced Comprehensive Business Educator	
Expected	Walden University	Minneapolis, MN
Completio	n Doctorate in Education	-
2014	Concentration in Administration Leadership for Teaching a	nd Learning
	Project Study: Educators' Perspectives on Female Students Computer Science and Engineering	'Enrollment in
1995	New Hampshire College	Manchester, NH
	Master of Science in Business Education	
1991	University of Lowell	Lowell, MA
	Bachelor of Science in Business Administration	
	Concentration in Management Information Systems	
	Computer Proficiency Certificate	
2005	Certified Microsoft Office Specialist Master (Word, Excel,	Access, & PowerPoint)

EMPLOYMENT

EDUCATION

9/08-Present

Business Teacher

Teach Computer Applications, Web Design, Desktop Publishing, Web 2.0 courses
 Serve on District Technology, Technology Education, and UbD committees

- >Teach adult education for Microsoft Office and Excel classes
- >Team teach professional development technology sessions to faculty
- ≻Mentor to new teachers

Business Instructor

≻Advisor to National Business Honor Society

5/05-12/08	Southern New Hampshire University	Portsmouth and Manchester, NH
9/01-2/02	IT Instructor	
	≻Taught Intro to Computer Technology courses	
8/94–6/08	Hesser College	Manchester, NH



	 Taught courses such as Office Systems Management, Desktop Publishing, Production Typing, Word I & II, Publisher, PowerPoint, Excel, Access, Intro to Computer Technology Technology liaison between adjunct faculty and technology department at main campus 		
9/00-6/06	Northern Essex Community College	Haverhill, MA	
	 Computer Instructor Taught non-credit courses such as Intro to PCs and Windows and var courses including preparation courses for Microsoft Office certification 	ious MS Office ation	
9/00-6/04	Senior Friends	Portsmouth, NH	
	Computer Instructor		
	Taught basic computer courses including Windows and MS Office to	Senior Citizens	
11/99–6/00	American Training, Inc. Lawrence, MA Computer Skills Instructor		
	Taught Keyboarding, Office Procedures, Data Entry, Windows, MS	Word, Excel	
3/99–11/99	Computer Learning Centers, Inc. Instructor	Methuen, MA	
	≻Taught MS Office, Internet, E-Mail, Web Pages, Intro to Computers,	Intro to Computers, and DOS	
1/95–6/98	Computer-Ed Business Institute	Woburn, MA	
	School Director	(6/96 - 6/98)	
	Managed day and night school		
	➤Attended Accreditation Workshops (ACICS)		
	>Helped prepare Woburn campus to receive initial accreditation		
	Instructor	(1/95 - 6/98)	
	Facilitated many software courses including: keyboarding, word processing, spreadsheets, databases, presentation, graphics, desktop publishing, accounting, & medical software		
	>Lectured courses such as DOS, Windows, Utilities & Troubleshootin	g	
	>Occasional floating instructor for one-day seminars such as Lotus No	tes	
8/93-6/94	R & R Consultants, Inc. Canton, MA		
	Computer Teacher		
	Taught various Apple programs to grades 1 through 6 including:		
	Typing, Desktop Publishing, Database, and Logo Programming		



117